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Welcome

We are pleased to present our annual
report and accounts for 2015-16.

Herts Valleys CCG is the NHS organisation responsible for
commissioning (planning, designing, buying and monitoring) health
services on behalf of people who live in Hertfordshire’s council
districts of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and
Watford. This is a population of about 627,000.

Later in this report you can find out more about the ways in which
patients have been involved in our work during 2015-16 together
with ways that you can get involved too.

All the work we do links directly into our strategy for how we
will deliver health and social care over the next 10 years – Your
While there have been some high profile local and national
Care, Your Future. Last year we were talking to a large number
matters that we have had to deal with this year, behind the scenes of people to seek their views on existing services and using what
our 69 member practices, our staff and our partners continue to
they said to write and publish a document setting out why change
work together to make great progress in developing, improving and is needed to make local services sustainable for the future.
maintaining good quality health and social care services for our
This year we have put in place a number of teams who are each
residents.
leading on the work that will make the changes and improvements
These include joining up health and social care for people with
needed to deliver Your Care, Your Future .
multiple long-term conditions and supporting people to maintain
There is a detailed section on Your Care, Your Future later in this
their independence so they can stay well at home; the work we
report.
do with carers; making it possible for people with conditions like
Do please read on to find out more about how Herts Valleys
diabetes and COPD to get better support for their condition in the
CCG has performed during the year in terms of meeting national
community and from their GP surgery; working with care homes
targets, how we have spent our budget and for details of our
keep to their residents stable, preventing avoidable hospital
member practices, our Board and what the future holds for your
admission and to making sure that people with mental health
local NHS.
problems get faster access to the services that are there to help
them.
Thank you to everyone who has volunteered to work with us
during the year; thanks also to our member practices, to our staff
You can read more about these and other achievements in our
and to our partners and stakeholders. Working together means
Performance section later in this report.
that we have been able to make some real achievements this year
We involve patients in all areas of our work. They are part of our
of which we can all be proud.
procurement processes, get involved with recruiting to senior
We hope you find this report interesting and look forward to us
posts, help promote key messages using social media, help us
develop our plans for winter (the busiest time of year for the NHS) all continuing to work together to take forward our strategy
Your Care, Your Future in 2016-17 and beyond.
and have a seat on our Board.
What our patients have to say about their experiences of using
local services is fundamental to the decisions that we make about
them.

Dr Nicolas Small						
Chair							
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group			

Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

Nicola Bell
We would like to add a message of thanks to Nicola Bell, our former Accountable Officer, who retired in April 2016. Nicola has made
a significant impact on Herts Valleys CCG leading and inspiring us in the development of Your Care, Your Future and to shaping and
embedding our values. She will be greatly missed. We all wish Nicola well in her retirement.
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Performance Report

Overview: about Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning
(planning, designing and buying) health services on behalf of
people who live in west Hertfordshire. This is a population of about
627,000.
Our Governing Body - our Board - is mainly made up of GPs and
other clinicians with the remainder comprising very senior CCG
managers and Lay Members.
We are a member organisation and our 69 member GP practices
are arranged into four ‘‘ localities”: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans

and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these
localities has a Locality Committee that is made up of local GPs.
The Locality Committees provide our Board with advice using their
local knowledge and expertise to ensure that the CCG carries out
our role successfully.
In 2015-16 we had a total budget of around £718 million that we
spent on community, hospital and mental health services. We
jointly commission some of our services – such as mental health,
NHS 111 and the GP out of hours service – in partnership with
Hertfordshire County Council and East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group.

Annual
Accounts
2014-15
£000

Annual
Accounts
2015-16
£000

£000

£000

Programme

659,915

705,025

Running Costs

15,160

12,999

Sub Total

675,075

718,024

Acute Hospitals

400,148

407,902

Acute hospitals

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities

69,258

74,708

Mental health and
learning disabilities

Community Services

55,806

59,964

Community services

Continuing Care/Funded Nursing Care

23,355

28,594

Continuing care /
funded nursing care

Medicine’s Management, including prescribing

71,044

75,066

Other Primary Care

12,903

14,849

Other Programme

21,106

36,931

Running Costs

14,447

12,999

668,067

711,013

7,008

7, 011

Expenditure 2015/16
Revenue Resource Limit

Expenditure

Medicines
management
including prescribing
Other primary care
Other programmes
Running costs

Sub Total
Surplus

In the table and chart above “Other Primary Care” includes for
example the supply of oxygen, the GP out of hours service and IT
services to practices. “Other Programme” includes physiotherapy,
counselling and a proportion of HVCCG’s contribution to the Better
Care Fund.

The CCG’s running costs, the expenditure on staff, premises and
other costs of the organisation were reduced by 10% between
2014-15 and 2015-16. Expenditure on drugs prescribed by GPs,
some other primary care costs, hospital, community and mental
health services for Herts Valleys’ patients increased by £43m over
the two years.
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Performance Report (continued)

Better Care Fund
In 2015-16 the Government introduced a requirement for CCGs to
pool £3.8 billion of NHS funds with their local authority partners.
In Hertfordshire, Herts Valleys CCG and East & North Hertfordshire
CCG were required to contribute a minimum of £70.9 million to the
Better Care Fund, which is overseen by the county-wide Health and
Wellbeing Board. The Hertfordshire Better Care Fund totalled £331
million, making it one of the largest in the country, and includes
contributions in cash and contractual arrangements from Herts
Valleys CCG totalling £94.9 million.
The ambitions for the Better Care Fund Plan included being able to
influence locally:

• 7 day working’ in health and social care
• Plans to be agreed jointly between the NHS and social care
• Better data sharing between NHS and social care
• Joint assessment and ‘accountable professionals’
• Protection of social care services (not spending)
• Agreement on the consequential impact of changes in the

stakeholders. The Health and Wellbeing Board has agreed the
following principles:

• Keeping people safe and reducing inequalities in health,
attainment and wellbeing outcomes;

• Evidence based (using the data provided in the Joint Strategic

Needs Assessment undertaken by the Director of Public Health);

• What can we do better together? Focusing our efforts to
maximise benefits;

• Centred on people, their families and their carers, giving priority
to those most vulnerable;

• Preventative approach that gives priority to those most
vulnerable or at risk;

• Opportunities for integration to improve outcomes.
Your Care, Your Future has contributed fully to each of these
principles and will continue to do so as the Health and Wellbeing’s
Board strategy’s refresh is developed across four life themes:
Starting Well, Developing Well, Living and Working Well and Ageing
Well. The refresh draft priorities for 2016-2020 are as follows:

acute sector

We are increasingly pooling budgets with local health and social
care organisations to enable us to provide more integrated services
for our residents. This is better for patients and services users as it
joins up teams from across organisations allowing a more holistic
approach to care. This way of working also reduces duplication and
makes best use of human and financial resources.

Starting
Well

Developing
Well

Living Well,
Working
Well

Ageing Well

Narrowing the
gap across
localities

Improved
mental health
and wellbeing
in children
(CAMHS)

Increasing
activity levels

Reducing falls

Perinatal mental
health

Narrowing the
gap in terms
of outcomes
across localities

Reducing
obesity levels

Reducing
preventable
winter deaths

Reducing
preventable
disability

Improving
activity and
reducing frailty
levels in older
people

Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
We are a member of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board.
The Health and Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, public
health, adult social care and children’s services, including elected
representatives and Hertfordshire Healthwatch, to plan how best
to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local
inequalities in health.
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, a number
of important matters included in this annual report have been
presented and discussed as agenda items at Health and Wellbeing
Board meetings throughout the year.
The CCG’s key strategy for west Herts Your Care, Your Future” (see
further down this report for full details) is a partnership strategy
that fully embraces Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board’s
strategy, Healthier People, Healthier Communities vision of ‘with
all partners working together we aim to reduce health inequalities
and improve the health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire’.
The Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy was launched in 2013
and is being refreshed in June 2016 after wide consultation with
6

Identifying the
“vulnerable
School readiness
children &
families”
Identifying the
“vulnerable
children &
families”
Improving looked
after children
outcomes

Improving
looked after
children
outcomes

Improving
mental health Reducing social
prevention and
isolation)
resilience

Performance Report (continued)

Risks
During 2015-16 the CCG identified the following risks to the
achievement of our strategic objectives:

• Failure to improve engagement with member practices, patients,
the public and carers to contribute to and influence the work of
the CCG because of

• Risk that we fail to engage effectively with a range of our
patients, population and stakeholders

o R
 isk that member practices do not see the potential positive
impact of their engagement with the CCG
o Insufficient capacity in primary care to implement planned
changes

• Failure to commission safe, high quality services that meet the

population’s needs, reducing health inequalities and supporting
local people to avoid ill health and stay well because of
o R
 isk that not all NHS Constitution pledges, targets and
priorities are met
o Risk that we are unable to ensure high quality, safe and
sustainable services for the patients and population of west
Hertfordshire
o Risk of poor health outcomes for our population, especially in
areas of deprivation

• Failure to work with health and social care partners to transform
the delivery of care through the implementation of ‘Your Care,
Your Future’ the strategic review in west Hertfordshire because
of
o L
 ack of resource and commitment from national bodies and
key stakeholders
o L
 ack of workforce capacity and capability across health and
social care organisations

• Failure to ensure that there is a financially sustainable and

affordable healthcare system across west Hertfordshire because
o QIPP plans are not delivered
o Financial balance is not achieved in 2015-16

The CCG considered how these risks were managed, including the
controls put in place and the assurances provided, as part of the
Board Assurance Framework. This was considered at meetings
of the Board during 2015-16 and on each occasion the controls in
place were assessed as appropriate and the level of risk considered
manageable.
In addition to receiving the Board Assurance Framework, the
Audit Committee put in place a programme of in depth reviews
of individual Board Assurance Framework risks as part of its
programme for work in 2015-16.

7

Performance against key targets in 2015 -16

1. Overview of performance
The
following table
shows
Valleys’
performance against key
Performance
against
keyHerts
targets
in 2015‐16
targets in 2015-16. The performance data relates to the treatment
1. Overview of performance
of
registered
practices
inagainst
the Herts
Valleys
CCGThe
area.
Thepatients
following table
shows Hertswith
Valleys’
performance
key targets
in 2015‐16.
performance
data relates
to for
the treatment
of patients
practices ininthe
Herts
Final
year-end
data
March 2016
willregistered
only bewith
available
June
Valleys CCG area. Final year‐end data for March 2016 will only be available in June 2016,
2016,
hence
the table
shows ofthe
of for
thetheCCG
and
hence the
table shows
the performance
the performance
CCG and its providers
period
Aprilits
2015 to February
providers
for2016.
the period April 2015 to February 2016.

Target

Year to
date
(Feb 2016)

93%

95.3%

93%

91.1%

Cancer 31 day ‐ 1st definitive treatment from diagnosis

96%

98.0%

Cancer 31 day ‐ Subsequent treatment for cancer ‐ Surgery

94%

96.3%

Cancer 31 day ‐ Subsequent treatment for cancer ‐ Drugs

98%

98.6%

Cancer 31 day ‐ Subsequent treatment ‐ Radiotherapy

94%

95.7%

Cancer 62 days ‐ 1st treatment following an urgent GP referral

85%

83.7%

90%

93.7%

85%

86.3%

75%

66.1%

75%

58.6%

95%

91.2%

92%
99%
95%

92.2%
98.4%
89.4%

15%

13.8%

67%

61.1%

Cancer 2 week waits following urgent GP referral for suspected
cancer
Cancer 2 week waits ‐ Breast Symptomatic where cancer not
suspected

Cancer 62 days ‐ 1st treatment following referral from Screening
Service
Cancer 62 days ‐ 1st treatment following consultants decision to
upgrade
Ambulance Category A ‐ Red 1 ( immediate life threatening and
most time critical) response arriving within 8 minutes –
commissioner
Ambulance Category A ‐ Red 2 (life threatening but less time
critical than Red 1) response arriving within 8 minutes –
commissioner
Ambulance Category A ambulance arrival within 19 minutes –
commissioner
18 week Referral to Treatment ‐ Incomplete pathway
Diagnostic tests ‐ % of patients waiting 6 weeks or less
A&E total time in Department ‐ less than 4 hours
Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) – 15%
prevalence
Dementia diagnosis rate

2. Important issues this year

In 2015-16 performance on 2 week cancer waits for patients
referred urgently by a GP has exceeded the Constitutional
standard but performance for breast symptoms has been
inconsistent. An audit of 200 cases has shown patient choice
is a key root cause therefore a partnership approach has been
agreed for 2016-17 which will include improvements in patient
information regarding urgent referrals and earliest appointments
so they can be rebooked if patients do not attend. Additional
support for the CCG’s GP Clinical Lead for cancer is being provided
by partnership working with Macmillan. The additional posts will
work with providers and the strategic clinical network to improve
performance against cancer waiting times.
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During 2015-16, a new CCG project was started to provide
assurance that key performance indicators (KPIs) were being
routinely monitored and reported to the CCG’s Board through
appropriate committees and that CCG staff were working with
provider colleagues to ensure action was taken when KPIs did not
show the required levels of performance. As part of this project,
the outcomes have included production of regular performance
highlight reports within our Integrated Quality Performance and
Finance Report, which demonstrates performance improvements
for the identified KPIs.
The project continues into 2016-17 and has included ensuring
robust recovery plans with trajectories being in place for each
of the identified high priority KPIs. In addition, all Service Quality
8

For all performance KPIs, Board level challenge is embedded within
the relevant governance meetings and this ensures clinician to
clinician working. It also ensures that systems are held to account.
Clinical leads are aligned to each KPI to provide clinical oversight
and input.
The tables on the right shows the top 5 performance successes
and challenges throughout 2015-16.

Key:
Red – target missed
Green – target met
Key Performance Indicator

Performance Reports from our main providers are now monitored
on a regular basis by the relevant contract managers.

Top performance successes

X axis (horizontal) = months of the year from April 2015 to February 2016
Y axis (vertical) = performance
9

Top performance challenges

X axis (horizontal) = months of the year from April 2015 to February 2016
Y axis (vertical) = performance
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In-year delivery of performance against targets has been managed
through the Contract Quality Review Meetings (CQRM) and System
Resilience Group including weekly system-wide calls with key
stakeholders. Assurance has been provided internally through
monthly and quarterly integrated quality, performance and finance
reports which are submitted to the Quality and Performance
Committee and Board respectively and externally through quarterly

CCG assurance reviews with NHS England. Where necessary,
recovery plans have been taken forward through system-wide
working using forums such as the System Resilience Group and
Cancer Network. These processes and the programme approach
to improve performance across urgent care and manage episodic
system pressure will continue to operate during 2016-17.

Highlights 2015-16

Mental health and learning disabilities
• We have increased the proportion of people aged over 65 in
west Hertfordshire who might be expected, based on national
statistics, to be diagnosed with dementia from 43.5% at the end
of December 2014 to 61.7% in March 2016. The national target is
for 67% of the expected population to be diagnosed.

a range of different support needs to help them establish
sustainable relationships with the services that can help them,
enabling them to feel more supported in their community, and
thus less likely to access health professionals for non-clinical
needs. GPs, along with health and social care professionals
and voluntary sector organisations can refer people to the
Community Navigators.

• We have increased the number of people accessing psychological
therapies from an average of 450 people a month at the start of • The scheme has received almost 1,000 referrals over the past
12 months with the Community Navigators making over 1,800
2014-15 to an average of 900 a month in March 2016.
onward referrals to a number of voluntary sector and community
• We have reduced the time children and young people have to
agencies. These organisations have been able to assist people
wait for a mental health service routine appointment. Now 83%
for example by providing emotional support, support for carers
of children and young people are seen within 28 days compared
and by helping to reduce isolation.
to 17% in April 2014.
• There are now Community Navigator clinics in some Herts
Valleys GP surgeries and a ‘professionals clinic’ for social care
Palliative and end of life care
• We have worked with the Palliative and End of Life Care Forum to teams. The Community Navigators continue to work very closely
with Herts Help where Herts Help triage referrals and provide a
create an electronic system where patients’ advanced care plans
point of contact for people who are able to seek support over the
are on one system that can be accessed by most professionals
telephone. We are also pleased to announce that the Community
involved in their care. This will help to ensure that patients’ and
Navigator Scheme has been shortlisted for an HSJ Award in
their families’ wishes are respected.
Community Health Service Redesign, the result of which will be
Diabetes
known on 24th May 2016.
• We have been selected as one of the first areas to be part of the
National Diabetes Prevention Programme. This means that we
will provide support and education for patients who have been
identified as being at high risk of diabetes.

Care Homes

Providing services outside of hospital
• We are providing more services in the community close to where
people live including from GP surgeries and in their own homes.
These include respiratory, cardiology and gynaecology services.

Infection control

• We have brought together a care home improvement team
comprising nurses, a pharmacist, an emergency care practitioner • In our area the rate of C. difficile has been consistently below the
average for East of England and the national rate. This reflects
and GP who have worked with local care homes to reduce their
the good infection control practices within NHS and private care
rates of hospital admission. The team has achieved a 50%
providers locally.
reduction for the top ten admitting homes and a 5% reduction for
the remaining 159 homes.

Carers’ strategy highly commended

Community Navigators

• Our strategy for carers was highly commended at the Heath
Service Journal Value in Healthcare Awards in September 2015.
• The Community Navigator scheme has gone from strength to
Since the strategy was launched in April 2014, all our member
strength during 2015-16. Commissioned and jointly funded by
GP practices have appointed a champion to look after carers’
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and Hertfordshire
interests; 80% now offer carer-dedicated health checks, and more
County Council, the Community Navigator scheme was set up in
than half now provide flexible appointments. Local carers were
2014 to make sure vulnerable people or those who are unsure or
involved throughout the development and implementation of the
anxious find the right local health, social care or voluntary service
strategy, and joined us at the awards ceremony.
to help them.
• Community Navigators work alongside health and social care
partners and providers and connect people to appropriate
voluntary sector support in their community (this could be in
addition to any formal professional help they are receiving).
• Community Navigators work with those people who may have

Transforming care – learning disabilities
• Adults and children in Hertfordshire with a learning disability,
autism, mental health needs or behaviour that challenges are
receiving better support thanks to the county being chosen as
one of six national Transforming Care Fast Track ‘pilot’ sites. NHS
organisations, including Herts Valleys, are working with social
11

Highlights 2015-16 (continued)

population in this area. In October, a very successful Target event
care partners, service users and their families to design services
was held, with over 100 attendees from the locality focussing
that are more joined up. We are developing new services that
on mental health especially the areas of suicide prevention and
will help people with learning disabilities prevent and manage
crises and stay out of specialist hospitals. In Hertfordshire we are dementia diagnosis.
also working with people to have more choice and control over
Watford and Three Rivers
important aspects of their daily lives.
• The Living Well programme in Watford and Three Rivers is
And in our localities ….
developing and implementing a way of working that makes
sure that patients and service users with multiple long term
Dacorum
conditions, who use services from several health and social
• Dacorum Holistic Healthcare Team started in December 2015.
care organisations, receive joined up care to meet those needs.
The team works with a targeted caseload of patients (mostly
Clinicians involved in an individual’s care – their GP, community
elderly and those with long term conditions) who have multiple
nurse or occupational therapist for example – can refer their
needs, often complex and involving multiple agencies and where
patients to a multi-specialty team who work together to support
care coordination or uptake of services is poor. Elderly patients
people to live well in the community preventing avoidable
and patients with long term conditions are most vulnerable and
hospital and residential care admissions. The multi-specialty
at high risk of hospital admissions, which in itself leads to poorer
team approach is being rolled out across all four Herts Valleys
quality of life and increased mortality. The aim of the service is to
localities during 2016-17.
reduce hospital admissions and to improve patient experience by
getting the right care from the most appropriate professional in
St Albans and Harpenden
their own homes.
• Rapid Response Service: St Albans Rapid Response service
launched in October 2015. It provides urgent short term crisis
Hertsmere
management and stabilisation in the community for patients
• A Your Care, Your Future locality event was attended by practices,
who have physical and mental health, therapy and social care
patient representatives and other stakeholder groups to look at
needs and who are identified as requiring urgent interventions
the work to support the transformation of health and social care
but not needing acute diagnosis or medical care. It is available
across west Hertfordshire. For Hertsmere, work has focussed
to people aged 18 and over who are registered with a GP in St
on developing an integrated hub in Borehamwood/Elstree. We
Albans and Harpenden. The service is open from 8am to 8pm,
continue to work with our key stakeholders to determine the
seven days a week.
services required within the hub to best meet the needs of the
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Important issues this year

Quality

has recently been revisited by the CQC. The outcome of
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under section 14R of that visit is currently awaited.
the Health and Social Care Act 2012 by ensuring that we commission A&E pressures
safe and high quality patient care. We do this by making sure we
In line with most hospitals across the country, West Hertfordshire
have robust contract and quality schedules including Commissioning
Hospitals NHS Trust faced very considerable challenges at the start
for Quality and Innovation schemes and clinical audit programmes
of 2016, particularly around the significant demand and pressures on
within all our contracts with providers, which are monitored and
the A&E Department at Watford General Hospital.
performance challenged. The CCG receives provider performance
reports and ensures that all poor performance is effectively reported There were three separate periods during January when its
emergency department was only accepting the most seriously
and performance managed, assessing hard and soft data about
unwell patients.
the quality of care, commissioning from appropriately accredited
and regulated/approved providers. We receive and act on key
Other patients were advised to see their GP or, out of hours, to call
quality reports such as serious incidents and ‘never’ events and
NHS 111 or visit alternative services in the area such as Hemel
safeguarding reports in order to gain assurance in the processes,
Hempstead Urgent Care Centre and the Minor Injuries Unit in St
outcomes and learning from these reports.
Albans. Our system resilience team were closely involved with
We have a crucial role to play in developing and supporting improved
quality of care for people and patient experience among providers of
health services in west Hertfordshire. The Care Quality Commission
(CQC) inspections carried out in the past year presented a mixed
picture and we have been closely involved in the work being
progressed at West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust to improve
services following their ‘inadequate’ CQC rating.
The inspection was in April 2015 and highlighted: safety not being
a sufficient priority; weaknesses around reporting, analysing and
learning from incidents and patient complaints; insufficient staffing
levels, with an over-reliance on agency staff; inadequate plans to
manage risk; facilities being in a poor state of repair; and lack of
stability at board level.
Following the inspection, the Trust immediately put right the urgent
concerns about safety that were raised by the CQC. Inspectors also
reported on positive practice including: the majority of staff were
found to be caring, compassionate and kind; and infection control
practices were good. The report also highlighted some areas of
‘outstanding practice’. These included the care delivered by staff in
the children’s and young people’s services which was considered
excellent. They also noted the considerable reduction in mortality to
a figure this year which is, by national standards, significantly lower
than expected.
The CQC is due to revisit the Trust in September 2016 to assess
whether the actions taken by the Trust to respond to the issues
raised in April 2015 warrant an improved rating.
In terms of our other main local providers, we were very pleased
that both Hertfordshire Partnership NHS University Foundation
Trust and Herts Urgent Care received a ‘good’ rating following their
CQC inspections. GP practices are also being inspected by the CQC
and to date, those visited in Herts Valleys, have all been found to
be ‘good’.Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust received a ‘requires
improvement’ rating, just missing out on ‘good’. The Trust has
subsequently worked through a programme of improvements and

colleagues at the Trust to try to alleviate the pressures.

Financial sustainability
We have faced financial challenges this year, overspending primarily
on continuing healthcare placements and hospital services and
have worked with colleagues in our provider trusts to reduce this;
we have also received support from our GP colleagues, including
making changes around prescribing. In all of this, patient care
remains paramount. We have improved our processes for the
identification and monitoring of savings opportunities, with a
dedicated programme management office and a clinically led
Financial Effectiveness Group to hold project owners to account
and to help identify additional actions that can help the CCG keep
within budget. The CCG delivered over 80% of its planned savings in
2015-16, a significant improvement on the 60% achieved in 2014-15.
The Financial Effectiveness Group, chaired by a GP Board member, is
being retained for 2016/17.
In addition we maintained strict controls on CCG running costs for
example delaying filling vacancies, ensuring use of agency staff
was kept to the bare minimum and reducing our training budget.
This enabled us to keep within our allocation and achieve financial
balance at the end of the year.
The financial challenges experienced by the CCG are also evident
across the health and social care system in west Hertfordshire.
Our Your Care, Your Future programme (see below for further
information) will help us to ensure that the system as a whole has
long-term financial sustainability; we will not be able to achieve
this without major transformation of the way health and social
care services are delivered to residents in west Hertfordshire. The
CCG’s financial plan for 2016-17 includes a requirement for savings
schemes with a value of nearly £22m and looking forward over
the five years to 2020-21 there is going to be an annual challenge
of making savings to ensure that the costs of services for Herts
Valleys’ population can be met from the allocation that NHS England
provides to the CCG. The transformation of services within the Your
Care, Your Future strategy will help to deliver these savings.
13

Your Care, Your Future –
agreeing our strategy for now and the future

NHS organisations in west Hertfordshire are working together with
Hertfordshire County Council to deliver our strategy for health and
social care services that meet the needs of the population now
and in future years. We have called this strategy Your Care, Your
Future.
Our vision is for people of all ages living in west Hertfordshire to
be healthier and have better care that is joined-up and responsive
to their individual needs and that is closer to where they live. The
vision was developed last year as a result of detailed analysis of
current services and extensive engagement with local people.
The analysis and engagement considered the following four
questions:
• How well (how effectively and efficiently) are patients’ needs
met by the current health and social care system across west
Hertfordshire?
• What are the opportunities to meet future health and social care
needs of the west Hertfordshire population more effectively and
efficiently?
• How should health and social care services across west
Hertfordshire be configured to realise these opportunities?
• What organisational form(s) and commissioning/contracting
model(s) best support the delivery of the preferred future
configuration of services?
As a result we reached an important milestone this year –
publication of a case for change and later a strategic outline case.
The conclusion from our engagement and analysis work and set
out in the case for change and strategic outline case documents is
that there are three key principles for the future:
• We need to redouble our efforts on activities designed to prevent
ill health, for instance to reduce the incidence of obesity and long
term conditions
• We need better integration between all our services to make
things less complicated for those patients using services
provided by different people from a number of organisations
• We need to deliver much more care closer to home.
Our aim is that by 2020 there will be a 40% reduction in visits to
hospital with people getting more services close to where they live.
During 2015 we started to address these principles by rolling
out rapid response services to more areas in west Hertfordshire,
building on the service provided by our Community Navigators
and developing ways to provide better support for older people,
for children with mental health needs, for people with long term
conditions and others.
We have also looked at our buildings – health centres, community
hospitals, clinics - across west Hertfordshire. We know that much
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of our estate is in need of improvement so this is a good time to
redevelop our buildings in line with the new ways of providing
services, especially around our plans to join up care and provide
more support to patients closer to home.
While we were engaging with local people we identified some
priority places where we could develop more integrated services,
working with partners and making use of available facilities to
provide local people with better health and care services for their
communities. These are:
• South Oxhey
• Elstree
• Hemel Hempstead
• Harpenden
Development of proposals for changes to our acute hospitals is
another element of Your Care, Your Future. During the year we
looked at the services we plan to provide outside of hospital in
future and at what this might mean for existing hospitals in west
Hertfordshire. There were a number of options that were initially
considered.
Each option was evaluated using a number of criteria resulting in a
shortlist of three options. You can read what these options are on
pages 9-13 of the Strategic Outline Case at
www.yourcareyourfuture.org.uk.
During the early part of 2016 we have had some conversations
with groups of patients about possible variations to these options.
More detailed analysis of the options will take place during 2016
with a view to identifying a preferred model later in the year.
Formal decision making and business case approval processes will
be followed to secure the necessary investment required.

Taking forward Your Care, Your Future

The organisations involved in Your Care, Your Future are:

In autumn 2015, the boards of each of the partner organisations
met to review and receive the strategic outline case which
represents our vision and plan for delivering sustainable health
and social care for residents in west Hertfordshire for the next 10
years.

• NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group

By the end of 2015 each board formally adopted the strategic
outline case, demonstrating their commitment to Your Care, Your
Future.

• East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust

• Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
• Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
• West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
• Hertfordshire County Council

2016-17 represents year one of our implementation of Your Care,
Your Future, building on early successes already achieved. Our
“Highlights” section above gives more details about the services
patients receive outside of hospital, how we are providing more
joined up care to our patients and what we are doing to work with
people to help them better manage long term conditions. We will
use the ‘patient stories’ that we bring to all of our Board meetings
to show how the changes that are being made really do improve
the experience of individual patients and their families.
These are your services – your feedback will be vital in shaping how
care is delivered in the future. So please have your say throughout
the process – for more information on how to get involved please
visit www.yourcareyourfuture.org.uk or email
info@yourcareyourfuture.org.uk.
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Involving patients and the public in what we do

The Your Care, Your Future section of this report (above) set out
how residents have been engaged in the development of our
strategy for health and social care in this part of Hertfordshire and
continue to be now we are in the implementation stage.
Elsewhere in the CCG we continue to carry out the actions
contained in our Participation Plan which was agreed by our Board
in 2014, reporting regularly to our Patient and Public Involvement
(PPI) Committee and with a well- established model for involving
local people. This means that people can work with us in a number
of different ways including receiving our newsletters, attending
events, becoming a patient representative on a committee or
representing their locality as a member of our PPI Committee
(that reports directly to our Board)
We had a programme of engagement events throughout the year,
including our Planned and Primary Care Network which continues
to be facilitated by Healthwatch Hertfordshire and includes regular
updates on programmes of work, with opportunities to influence
the way that services are commissioned and provided. We also
held a number of focus groups including one on Personal Health
Budgets and another where we heard from people with one or
more long term condition and their carers about their experience of
using services and the impact that can have on them.
Working with our PPI Committee we have developed a West
Hertfordshire Practice Patient Group network. The aim of this
network is to share best practice and establish clear
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communication channels with this ever increasing and broadening
number of local people.
We have extended our PPI development sessions from just our
PPI Committee to include our patient locality groups to enable
patient representatives to become better informed and stronger
influencers. We have also introduced a ‘getting to know the NHS’
session for patients who would like to get involved but find the
NHS difficult to find their way around because of its complexities.
Around 200 people attended our annual general meeting on 3
September 2015– a far higher number than we have had before.
We also received over 45 requests from organisations wanting to
have a ‘market stall’ at the event. This reflects our higher profile
and is in response to more active promotion and the continued
development of relationships with a variety of local stakeholders.
With West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust and local Dementia
Champions and supported by the Alzheimer’s Society Bus we held
a dementia day at Watford General Hospital. As a result over 150
staff, volunteers and community members became Dementia
Friends.
We have a well-established Reader Panel that continues to do a
great job helping us and our partners create patient friendly, jargon
free documents, leaflets, surveys and letters.
If you would like to find out more about getting involved with Herts
Valleys CCG visit our website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk or email
heather.aylward@hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

Equality

We have made significant progress in discharging our duty to
reduce inequalities under section 14T of the Health & Social Care
Act 2012 and meeting our equality obligations.
In line with legal requirements to publish one or more equality
objectives, and to refresh them at intervals of not less than four
years, we took account of the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 and
agreed the following three equality objectives:
- Being an inclusive commissioner
- Driving partnership, engagement and information flow
- Inclusive leadership and organisational development.
We have embedded and integrated equality with quality in
our organisation. This is reflected in the way we engaged with
staff prior to introducing our equality and quality analysis (EQA)
framework. This new template is used to consider due regard
to inequalities and quality impact of our strategies, policies and
business cases prior to decisions being taken.

voices tend not to be heard – such as younger people, travellers
and people with learning disabilities. We produced ‘easy read’
versions of key documents, in conjunction with service users and
their representatives, aimed at people with learning disabilities. A
detailed Equality and Health Inequality Impact Assessment was
undertaken during autumn 2015.
The key areas of focus to ensure that we continue to reduce
inequalities and meet our equality obligations next year will be to:
• Sustain our commitment to equality while aligning to the health
inequality agenda.
• Implement the recommendations of the Equality and Health
Inequalities Impact Assessment of the West Hertfordshire
Strategic Review.
• Undertake further data validation exercise, where staff are
asked to confirm their status under each of the protected
characteristics including carers.

Towards the end of 2014, the main health and social care
• Work closely with key providers to ensure that further progress
organisations in west Hertfordshire launched Your Care, Your
is made on monitoring equality information relating to service
Future – a major review of health and social care services in this
users by equality characteristic groups.
area. The review has been considering what changes need to be
• Support staff to further integrate equality into their work and
made to ensure our system and services are fit for the future – in
deliver our various equality obligations and commitments.
terms of quality of care and affordability. We have worked with our
partners to engage extensively with local communities in all our
four localities. We have also made efforts to involve those whose
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Sustainability

As an NHS organisation whose budget comes from public funds,
we have an obligation to work in a way that has a positive effect
on the communities for which we commission and procure
healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money
well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building
healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social,
environmental and economic assets, we can improve health both
in the immediate and long-term even in the context of the rising
cost of natural resources.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our
duty to contribute towards the aim set in 2014 of reducing the
carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system
by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a
2013 baseline by 2020.
The CCG’s estimated carbon footprint for the year is 153,897
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (tCO2e). HVCCG set
a 5% reduction target for 2015-16 against the 2013-14 baseline
calculated. Unfortunately this has not been achieved, mainly due
to increasing staff numbers and the subsequent effect this has
had on business travel and the staff commute. Having said that,
the CCG has made significant reductions to our carbon footprint in
other areas:
• We have reduced our electricity and water use significantly since
the 2013-14 baseline through relocation to more modern and
fuel-efficient premises, consolidating the majority of staff on one
site and promoting energy-efficiency with staff.

We also recognise that we will need effective contract mechanisms
in place to ensure that our key providers operate in a sustainable
manner. However, many of our key providers are already
demonstrating to us that they are becoming more sustainable
organisations.
Going forward, we have a number of exciting developments and
initiatives in place which will be positive from a sustainability
perspective. These include:
•Y
 our Care, Your Future, west Hertfordshire’s five-year strategy
that will emphasise prevention of poor health and provision of
integrated services in local, modern hubs.
• The introduction of a local incentive scheme for GP practices and
a public-facing awareness campaign designed to reduce wasted
medicines.
You can read our full Sustainability Report here.

Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer
25 May 2016

• Our rate of recycling has increased since the baseline was
calculated.
• We are embedding sustainability through the use of a
Sustainable Development Plan and measure our impact using
the Good Corporate Citizen (GCC) tool. We have increased our GCC
score from 13% to 29% this year.
We acknowledge that there are areas for improvement, such
as a required reduction in landfill waste and travel, mainly due
to a significant increase in staffing numbers since the 2013-14
baseline and we will continue to focus efforts on these areas. For
example, the HVCCG Green Travel Plan was launched at the end
of March 2016 and more sustainable travel was made the focus
of NHS Sustainability Day this year. We are also looking at ways
of reducing staff travel through greater use of video conferencing,
teleconferencing and staff working from home.
Gas consumption should reduce next year due to the consolidation
of staff onto only two sites, but there is little else we can do to
reduce consumption further as we are not the only tenants in the
buildings that we occupy and the gas is centrally controlled by the
owner of the properties.
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Accountability Report
Members report

Our 69 member practices are arranged
into the four localities of Dacorum,
Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and
Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these
localities has a Locality Committee which
is made up of local General Practitioners.
The Locality Committees provide our
Board with advice and is informed by
CCG members within each locality whilst
recognising the importance of local
knowledge and expertise to allow the CCG
to discharge its functions successfully.
The Locality Committees are jointly
accountable to member practices and
linked with each locality and the Board.
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Our Member practices are:
Dacorum practices (20)

Hertsmere practices (9)

• Archway Surgery
• Bennetts End Surgery
• Boxwell Road Surgery
• Coleridge House Medical Centre
• Everest House Surgery
• Fernville Surgery
• Gossoms End Surgery
• Grovehill Medical Centre
• Haverfield Surgery
• Highfield Surgery
• Kings Langley and Bovingdon Surgeries
• Lincoln House Surgery
• Manor Street Surgery
• Markyate Surgery
• Milton House Surgery
• New Surgery
• Parkwood Surgery
• Rothschild House Surgery
• West Herts Medical Centre
• Woodhall Farm Medical Centre

• Annandale Surgery
• Fairbrook Medical Centre
• Grove Medical Centre
• Highview Medical Centre
• Little Bushey Surgery
• Parkfield Medical Centre
• Red House Group
• Schopwick Surgery
• Theobald Medical Centre

St Albans and Harpenden practices (13)

Watford and Three Rivers practices (28)

• Davenport House Surgery
• Dr Sinha, 61 Hatfield Road
• Elms Medical Practice
• Grange Street Surgery
• Harvey Group Practice
• Health Centre, Redbourn
• Lattimore Surgery
• Lodge Surgery
• Maltings Surgery
• Midway Surgery
• Parkbury House
• Verulam Medical Group
• Village Surgery

• Abbotswood Medical Centre
• Attenborough Surgery
• Baldwins Lane Surgery
• Callowland Surgey
• Cassio Surgery – Dr Watson
• Cassio Surgery – Dr Gujral
• Cassio Surgery – Dr Robson
• Cassio Surgery – Dr Reuben
• Chorleywood Health Centre
• Coach House Surgery
• Colne House Surgery
• Consulting Rooms
• Elms Surgery
• Gade Surgery
• Garston Medical Centre
• Holywell Surgery
• Manor View Practice
• New Road Surgery
• Park End Surgery
• Pathfinder Practice
• Prestwick Road Surgery
• Sheepcot Medical Centre
• South West Herts Medical Centre
• Suthergrey House Medical Centre
• Tudor Surgery
• Upton Road Surgery
• Vine House Health Centre

Members report

Board composition

• Accountable Officer – Nicola Bell, Executive Board Member

The Board included a GP Chair, four Lay Members, a secondary
care consultant, seven other GP elected members, an Accountable
Officer, a Chief Finance Officer and a Director of Nursing and
Quality in the financial year of 2015-16.

• Chief Finance Officer – Alan Warren, Executive Board Member

In attendance at Board meetings, without voting rights, were
the Director of Contracts and Resilience, the Director of Strategy,
Planning and Delivery, the Associate Director of Communications
and Engagement, the Head of Corporate Governance, a patient
representative and a representative of Healthwatch Hertfordshire.
During the year, four of the eight GP members of the Board stood
for re-election by the locality member practices and were duly reelected during February.

• Director of Nursing and Quality – Jan Norman, Executive Board
Member to 19 July 2015
• Interim Director of Nursing and Quality – Diane Curbishley,
Executive Board Member from 20 July 2015. Diane was appointed
as substantive Director of Nursing and Quality from 1 March
2016.
Board Meeting in Public attendances 2015-16

Members

Appointment and roles

No. of
Board
Meetings

Number
of Board
Meetings
attended

The names and roles of Board members are as follows:

Nicolas Small, Chair

5

5

• Chair – Nicolas Small (GP Hertsmere) (elected to 31 March 2020)

Stuart Bloom, Deputy Chair

5

5

Paul Smith, Lay Member

5

4

Alison Gardner, Lay Member

5

4

Thelma Stober, Lay Member

3

3

Robert Ghosh, Secondary Care Consultant

5

4

Trevor Fernandes, GP Member

5

4

Keith Hodge, GP Member

5

4

Mike Edwards, GP Member

5

5

Richard Pile, GP Member

5

4

• Deputy Lead Clinician -–Trevor Fernandes GP Elected Member
(Dacorum) (until 31 March 2020)

Mike Walton, GP Member

5

4

• GP Elected Member - Keith Hodge (Dacorum) (until 31 March
2018)

Rami Eliad, GP Member

5

5

Clair Moring, GP Member

5

4

Nicola Bell, Accountable Officer

5

5

Alan Warren, Chief Finance Officer

5

5

Jan Norman, Director of Nursing and
Quality 3

2

1

Diane Curbishley
Acting Director of Nursing and Quality4

3

2

• Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Stuart Bloom, (Quality and
Performance Committee Chair) (appointed for a four year period
to 31 March 2017)
• Lay Member – Paul Smith (Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee Chair) (appointed for a four year period to 31 March
2017)
• Lay Member – Alison Gardner (Patient and Public Involvement
Committee Chair) appointed for a four period to 31 March 2017)
• Lay Member – Thelma Stober (Primary Care Joint Commissioning
Committee Chair) (appointed 1 August 2015 for a four year term
to 31 July 2019)
• Secondary Care Consultant – Robert Ghosh (resigned 31 March
2016)

• GP Elected Member- Mike Edwards (Hertsmere) (until 31 March
2018)
• GP Elected Member - Richard Pile (St Albans and Harpenden)
(until 31 March 2020)
• GP Elected Member - Mike Walton (St Albans and Harpenden)
(until 31 March 2018)
• GP Elected Member - Rami Eliad (Watford and Three Rivers) (until
31 March 2020)
• GP Elected Member - Clair Moring (Watford and Three Rivers)
(until 31 March 2018)

3 Director of Nursing and Quality – Jan Norman, Executive Board Member to 19 July
2015
4 Interim Director of Nursing and Quality – Diane Curbishley, Executive Board Member
from 20 July 2015. Diane was appointed as substantive Director of Nursing and
Quality from 1 March 2016
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Members report (continued)

Board committees

Personal data related incidents

The Board committee structure included five committees during
2015-16: the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Quality
and Performance Committee, Patient and Public Involvement
Committee and Primary Care Joint Commissioning Committee.
The CCG and NHS England established a Joint Commissioning
Committee which carries out the functions relating to the
commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of
the NHS Act except those relating to individual GP performance
management, which have been reserved to NHS England.
The CCG expanded its Board with a new Lay Member, with a
legal background, specifically to chair the Joint Commissioning
Committee.

There has been one personal data related incident which was
formally reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office. This
was not classed as a Serious Untoward Incident and was reported
as a matter of good practice. It concerned a report provided to
the Board about human resources matters, in which a member of
the CCG’s staff could have been identified from the information
provided. Action was taken immediately after the matter came to
light to remind report authors of the importance of ensuring that
no inadvertent identification of confidential information relating to
individuals occurs.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee supports the Board in discharging its
functions relating to economy, efficiency and effectiveness and
governance. The Committee reviews the systems of governance,
risk management and internal control. The members of the Audit
Committee are

• Paul Smith (Committee Chair) Lay Member
• Stuart Bloom Lay Member
• Alison Gardner Lay Member
• Keith Hodge GP Board member
• Rami Eliad GP Board Member
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Register of interests
The Register of Declarations of Board Members’ interests can be
found at the following link http://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents-and-publications/doc_download/2726-hertsvalleys-ccg-board-register-of-interests-feb-2016

Auditor disclosures
Each individual who is a member of the Body at the time the
Members’ Report is approved confirms:

• so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit

information of which the clinical commissioning group’s external
auditor is unaware; and,

• that the member has taken all of the steps that they ought to

have taken as a member in order to make themself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of that information.

Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that
each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable
Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed
the Cameron Ward to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical
Commissioning Group.

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including
responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the public
finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable,
for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.

Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health have
been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures
in the financial statements; and,

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS
England has directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare
for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and
of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of the Manual for
Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to:

the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply
suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged
the responsibilities set
I also confirm that:

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of

which the entity’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable
Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to
make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that
information.

• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and that I take personal responsibility for
the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable

Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer
25 May 2016
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Annual governance statement

Introduction and context

Evidence that the Code’s principles were applied is provided
through:

Herts Valleys CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions
enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the • Clear division of responsibilities between the Chair of the Board
and the Accountable Officer of the CCG;
National Health Service Act 2006.
As at 1 April 2015, the clinical commissioning group was licensed
without conditions.
Herts Valleys CCG is a membership organisation comprising 69
practices, organised in four localities (St Albans & Harpenden,
Dacorum, Watford & Three Rivers and Hertsmere) coterminous
with the appropriate district council areas. The CCG is responsible
for commissioning healthcare for the 627,000 residents of these
localities.

• Committees of the Board comprised a balance of skills,
knowledge, independence and experience for them to be able to
carry out their duties effectively;
• Information provided to the Board and its Committees in a timely
manner and of sufficient quality to enable the CCG to discharge
its functions;

• The Board assessed the nature and extent of the significant
risks it was willing to take in order to deliver its strategic
objectives and managed these through its sound systems of risk
During 2015-16, the CCG undertook with NHS England the joint
management and internal control;
commissioning of primary medical services. The CCG’s Constitution
has been amended to accommodate the new responsibilities
• Remuneration Committee had oversight of the arrangements for
and a separate Joint Commissioning Committee was established.
remunerating members of the Board.
The CCG expanded its Board with a new Lay Member, with a legal
The CCG’s governance framework
background, specifically to chair the Committee.
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph
Throughout 2015-16, the performance of the CCG was monitored
by NHS England’s Midlands and East Central Region. The outcome 14L (2)(b) states:

of the assurance process for 2015-16 was not available at the time The main function of the Board is to ensure that the group has
this report was written.
made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies
with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are
Scope of responsibility
relevant to it.
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the arrangements made to meet
sound system of internal control that supports the achievement
its responsibilities for commissioning care for the people for whom
of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the
it is responsible. It sets out the governing principles, rules and
public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in
procedures that are in place to ensure probity and accountability
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in in the day to day running of the CCG. The Constitution was
amended, with the approval of NHS England, in June 2015 to reflect
my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
responsibility for the joint commissioning primary medical services
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered
with NHS England.
prudently and economically and that resources are applied
The Constitution also sets out the terms of reference and
efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and
membership arrangement for the Board and its Committees.
regularity.
Terms of reference are reviewed annually and Committees provide
Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
an annual report on their work. Formal minutes of the Board
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance
and Committees are reviewed and approved at the next available
Code. However, we have reported on our corporate governance
meeting.
arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including
those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to The table opposite summarises the work of the CCG Board and its
be relevant to the clinical commissioning group and best practice. Committees
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Annual governance statement (continued)

Board

The Board allows deputies to attend meetings on behalf of
Executive Director Members.

The Board has delegated authority from member practices to
undertake the full range of functions required of the CCG. The member
practices meet twice a year at the GP Forum and receive feedback
from the Board and are able to raise questions of Board members.
There are also a number of decisions that have been reserved to the
members and these include changes to the CCG Constitution and
electing GP members of the Board. The Board’s focus is on setting
vision and strategy, approving commissioning plans and on corporate
and financial governance and risk management. It also ensures that
the CCG meets its statutory and regulatory requirements and operates
in line with its approved Constitution (NHS England is the body with
ultimate responsibility for approving the CCG’s Constitution and any
changes that the CCG proposes to it). Key functions covered in the
Constitution are:

In December, the Board commissioned a 3600 survey
in order to measure its effectiveness. The survey was
completed by individual members of the Board and senior
managers from the CCG and generated feedback on the
performance of individuals and on the effectiveness
of Board as a whole. The Board held a development
session in February to review the feedback and concluded
that their effectiveness was significantly improved
since the previous survey held 12 months earlier. Key
successes included, setting the vision; patient and public
involvement; collaboration and improved engagement
with the membership. Key areas for development
included, making sure that everyone is effectively engaged
in the delivery of Your Care Your Future; improving skills of
influence and having challenging discussions.

a) Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to
exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in
accordance with the principles of good governance.
b) Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable
to employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the
allowances payable under any pension scheme that the CCG may
establish.
c) Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations.
d) Leading on setting the CCG’s vision and strategy.
e) Approving commissioning plans including the production of an
annual plan.
f) Monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual
report.
g) Ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the
limits set.
h) Providing assurance of strategic risks.
i) Producing an annual report.
j) Oversight of declaration and registration of interests and
management of conflicts of interest.
k) Working with NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) to improve
the quality of primary medical services, particularly to take account
of need and unexpressed demand.
l) Working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialised
services.
m) Working with Hertfordshire County Council in respect of Local
Authority public health services as well as being a member of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
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Annual governance statement (continued)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee supports the Board discharge its functions
relating to economy, efficiency and effectiveness and governance.
The committee reviews the systems of governance, risk
management and internal control.

• Competitive procurement of internal auditors for 3 years from 1
April 2016

Remuneration Committee

The Audit Committee provides the Board with an independent
and objective view of financial systems, financial information
and compliance with laws, regulations and directions relating to
finance, and maintenance of an effective system of governance,
risk management and internal control. The Committee does this
with the input and support of internal and external auditors.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board about the remuneration, fees and other allowances for staff
and other persons providing services to the CCG.

The Audit Committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings
on behalf of Committee members.

The Remuneration Committee does not allow deputies to attend
meetings on behalf of Committee members.

The Remuneration Committee approves the performance appraisal
regime for the CCG’s very senior managers.

No. of
Meetings

Number
attended

Paul Smith (Committee Chair)
Lay Member

5

5

5

Alison Gardner
Lay Member

5

5

3

3

Mike Edwards
GP Board Member

5

4

Keith Hodge
GP Board Member

5

5

Rami Eliad
GP Board Member

3

3

No. of
Meetings

Number
attended

Paul Smith (Committee Chair)
Lay Member

5

5

Stuart Bloom
Lay Member

5

Alison Gardner5
Lay Member

Members

5 Alison Gardner, Lay Member commenced as a member of the Audit Committee
following the Terms of Reference being amended and approved by the Board in
September 2015

Key areas of focus for the Audit Committee in 2015-16 have
included:
• Review of provisions around gifts, hospitality and commercial
sponsorship
• Review of provisions around the management of conflicts of
interest
• Approval and monitoring the implementation of the internal
audit strategy
• Review of the CCG decision register
• Approval of Annual Report and Accounts 2014-15
• Monitoring the implementation of the counter fraud work plan
• Approval of Risk Management Strategy and Procedure

26

• In depth reviews of individual risks on the Board Assurance
Framework and the Corporate Risk Register

Members

Key areas of focus for the Remuneration Committee in 2015-16
have included:
• Approval of remuneration packages for key senior posts
• Approval of a small number of redundancy payments
• Outcome of Board and Very Senior Manager appraisals
• Review of organisational restructure

Annual governance statement (continued)

Patient and Public Involvement Committee

• Information governance and Freedom of Information Act

The Patient and Public Involvement Committee provides the
Board with assurance that there is meaningful participation in the
business of the CCG from patients, carers, families and members
of public across the CCG’s locality areas. Its role includes the review
of strategies and proposals to offer views from the patients’
perspective.

• Patient safety and experience
• Equality and diversity
• Serious incidents, complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison
Service (PALS)
• Infection control
• Emergency planning

No. of
Meetings

Number
attended

Alison Gardner (Committee Chair)
Lay Member

8

8

Richard Pile
GP Board Member
Joined Committee January 2016

2

1

Jan Norman
Director of Nursing and Quality
1 April 2015-19 July 2015

2

1

Members

Diane Curbishley
Director of Nursing and Quality
20 July 2015-present

6

Alan Warren
Member until October 2015

5

2

• Health and safety
• Human resources and organisational development
• Safeguarding
• Finance
• Clinical programmes
The Quality and Performance Committee allows deputies
to attend
8
meetings on behalf of Executive Director Members.

Members

No. of
Meetings

Number
attended

Stuart Bloom (Committee Chair)
Lay Member

11

11

Charles Allan
Director of Contracting and Resilience

11

8

Diane Curbishley
Director of Nursing and Quality
20 July 2015-present

8

5

Key areas of focus for the PPI Committee in 2015-16 have included:

Trevor Fernandes
GP Board Member

11

8

• Monitoring the implementation of the CCG’s Patient Participation
Plan

Alison Gardner
Lay Member

11

8

Robert Ghosh
Secondary Care Consultant to the Board

11

10

Clair Moring
GP Board Member

11

9

Jan Norman
Director of Nursing and Quality
1 April 2015-19 July 2015

3

2

Richard Pile
GP Board Member

11

9

Alan Warren
Chief Finance Officer

11

10

3

Supported by Associate Director of Communications and Engagement and Head of
Corporate Governance

The PPI Committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on
behalf of Committee members.

• Patient input into Your Care, Your Future
• Input into specific service redesigns, procurements and QIPP
schemes
• Review of provider CQC reports

Quality and Performance Committee
The role of the Quality and Performance Committee is to oversee
the integrated governance arrangements for the effective
discharge of the CCG’s functions with particular focus on
quality, performance and finance. The Committee has delegated
responsibility for assuring the Board in relation to the following:
• Contract performance
• Risk management
• Quality, clinical effectiveness and health improvement
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Key areas of focus for the Quality and Performance Committee in
2015-16 have included:

No. of
Meetings

Number
attended

Alison Gardner (Chair of the meeting for
14 May 2015 and 16 July 2015
Lay Member

4

3

Thelma Stober (Committee Chair from
17 September 2015)
Lay Member

4

4

Nicola Bell
Accountable Officer

6

4

David Buckle
Executive Medical Director

6

5

Dominic Cox
Locality Director, NHS England, Central
Midlands

6

6

Diane Curbishley
Director of Nursing and Quality
20 July 2015-present

4

2

Mike Edwards
Board GP Member

6

5

Trevor Fernandes
Board GP Member

6

4

• Newly designed enhanced services (both “Local Enhanced
Services” and “Directed Enhanced Services”);

Clair Moring
Board GP Member

6

6

• D
 esign of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality
Outcomes Framework (QOF);

Jan Norman
Director of Nursing and Quality
1 April 2015-July 2015

2

1

Richard Pile
Board GP Member

6

3

Paul Smith
Lay Member

4

3

Alan Warren
Chief Finance Officer

6

6

• Review of implementation of West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS
Trust Improvement Plan
• Review of implementation of Quality Alert System
• Transforming Care for people with Learning Disabilities
• Implementation of QIPP plans
• Learning from serious incidents
• Monitoring provider performance
• Understanding the reasons for variation from financial plan and
driving solutions

Joint Commissioning Committee
The role of the Joint Committee is to carry out the functions
relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under
section 83 of the NHS Act except those relating to individual GP
performance management, which have been reserved to NHS
England.
This includes the following activities:
• General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS)
and Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) contracts
(including the design of PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring
of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing branch/
remedial notices, and removing a contract);

• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an
area;
• Approving practice mergers, retirements, closures and
terminations; and
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (eg returner/
retainer schemes).
The Joint Commissioning Committee allows deputies to attend
meetings on behalf of Executive Director Members.

Members

Key areas of focus for the Joint Commissioning Committee in 201516 have included:
• Input into the Primary Care Strategic Implementation Plan
• Retirement of a single handed GMS contract
• Primary care quality assurance programme
• Approval of Member Practice Commissioning Agreement
• Review of Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund pilot
• Personal Medical Services Review
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Locality Committees

key individuals, including the Director of Nursing and Quality as the
CCG’s executive risk lead and the Risk Manager are clearly defined
and known.

Our 69 member practices are arranged into the four localities of
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and
Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality Committee
Risks are identified through two routes:
which is made up of local General Practitioners. The committees
are responsible for ensuring the Board is informed by the members • The Board Assurance Framework which assesses and manages
risks to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives – in 2015of the clinical commissioning group and that local knowledge is
16 there was a delay in the Board receiving and signing off the
fed into the decision making process of the group. They are also
Board Assurance Framework but the risks identified were subject
responsible for ensuring that members have the opportunity
to robust executive level management and controls;
to contribute to the development of policy and commissioning
strategy.
• The Risk Register process which is bottom-up and includes
risks identified by all levels of staff across the CCG. The highest
Locality Committees are also responsible for the following:
scoring risks are included on the Corporate Risk Register which
• Advising the Board of localities priorities
is reported to the Audit Committee and Board but lower scoring
risks are managed as part of ‘business as usual’ activity.
• Advising members in the locality of the work of the committees
• Consulting with members in the locality on behalf of the Board
where requested to do so or otherwise appropriate
• Supporting the Board in delivering the objectives of the CCG
• Supporting members of the locality to engage with the CCG
• GP, Practice and Patient engagement
• Participation and engagement with other localities on the
development of the CCGs commissioning plans
• Development of locality commissioning plans, within the overall
context of the CCGs overall plans
• Participation in the development of clinical pathways in
accordance with best practice.

The CCG’s risk management framework
Risk management strategy
During 2015-16 the CCG has further developed its approach
to risk management within the organisation and the strategy
and procedure has been updated to clarify and strengthen
arrangements for the monitoring and escalation of risks. New
appointments were made to the Head of Corporate Governance
and Risk Manager posts and a new internal Risk Management
Group was implemented to heighten awareness that
understanding and managing risk is an everyday part of the CCG’s
commissioning responsibilities. Risk is intrinsic to the provision of
healthcare and from the CCG’s perspective the consequences of
the risks inherent in commissioning decisions must be understood
before decisions are made.
The CCG has sought to develop a balanced approach to risk
management, recognising the need to commission safe, efficient
and economic services with the desire to innovate and develop new
models of care, reducing inequalities and improving outcomes for
patients. The process in place across the CCG has been led by the
Board and cascaded through Committees, localities, programmes
and directorates to individual project leads. The specific roles of

Training sessions have been undertaken by the Risk Manager to
raise awareness and explain the policies and procedures relating to
risk that the CCG has in place. All of the CCG’s policies and business
cases include consideration of quality and equality impacts.
The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud
specialists to ensure that it has an awareness of risks identified
elsewhere and to take steps to avoid these impacting on it. Equally,
the CCG has a strong track record in working with health and social
care system partners in west Hertfordshire and is able to share
risks and management of them where this is appropriate, this
includes taking account of the outcome of providers’ clinical audits.
The CCG Executive is assigned overall responsibility for each of
the four strategic objectives areas: ie commissioning, quality and
governance, finance and integration/partnership working. The
Executive are responsible for endorsing HVCCG’s system of internal
control, including risk management.
Board members have a responsibility to review and monitor risks
identified through the risk management framework and to provide
an effective level of challenge through debate and discussion.
Risk leads may be Executive Directors, Managers or Programme
Leads and are responsible for ensuring the risk management
processes described in this framework are applied and reviewed
within their areas.
Programme Leads, Managers and Locality Managers are
responsible for updating their risk registers in real time (and no
less than monthly) and for making sure that escalation of issues of
concern takes place.
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Embedding risk management

Control mechanisms

The CCG’s approach is to

There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:

• Ensure that all staff are aware of mechanisms to report incidents • Board
• Audit Committee
and near misses
• Quality and Performance Committee
• Ensure that all staff receive the appropriate level of risk
• Executive team
management training;
• Commissioning Executive
• Establish and implement a plan to develop and strengthen the
• Risk Management Group
organisation’s risk management culture and integrated risk
• Locality committees
management framework.
• Better Care Fund groups
The Strategy is delivered by focussing on key themes of activity,
The Board is accountable for ensuring that HVCCG has an effective
linking HVCCG’s strategic objectives and agreed local objectives.
programme for managing all types of risk and reviews risks to
Executive Directors, Associate Directors, Heads of Service and
the strategic objectives of the CCG. It receives details of all new
Managers are expected:
high level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews the
Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register. The
• To be clear about the CCG’s priorities;
CCG executive directors own all risks on the Board Assurance
• Promote awareness and understanding of the benefits of
Framework and the Corporate Risk Register.
proactive risk management, therefore developing a positive risk
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately
and patient safety culture;
and that the CCG can deliver its objectives, the Board receives
• Manage risk through their own directorate structure by
and considers written reports from the Audit Committee, subidentifying, assessing, controlling, monitoring and reviewing risks
committees of the Board, as well as the Commissioning Executive
in real time (and no less than monthly); ensuring the controls and
and Executive. In particular, the Board considers risk reduction
action plans are sustainable, effective and fully implemented;
plans and monitors progress on action plans on all significant risks.
• Distribute and disseminate, to their employees, results of
complaints, incidents, audits and lessons learned;
Prevention of risk
• Support compliance with appropriate legislation and standards.
Additionally the CCG:
• Drives corporate ownership and accountability throughout the
organisation of risk management and the need to mitigate risk
along with the mechanisms for reporting and sharing learning
across the organisation;
• Promotes and support the development and implementation of
risk management policies in general practice;

Horizon scanning can identify positive areas for the CCG to develop
its business and services, taking opportunities where these arise.
The CCG works collaboratively with partner organisations and
statutory bodies to horizon scan and be attentive and responsive
to change. By implementing mechanisms to horizon scan the
CCG is better able to respond to changes or emerging issues in
a planned structured coordinated way. Issues identified through
horizon scanning should link into and inform the business planning
process. As an approach it should consider on-going risks to
commissioned services.

• Provides training and on-going support to ensure that all risks
are reported and that all staff are aware of mechanisms to report Risk assessment – Herts Valleys CCG profile
incidents and near misses
Using the risk and control framework, risk assessment is
conducted in a systematic manner across all aspects of the CCG’s
• Ensures that all staff receive the appropriate level of risk
strategic and operational goals. The major risks confronting the
management training;
organisation are set out below. The risks and the controls applied
• Establishes and implements a plan to develop and strengthen
to them are actively scrutinised throughout the year by the Board,
the organisation’s risk management culture and integrated risk
responsible committees and the senior management team. Each
management framework.
risk is assigned a target risk rating and if the Board is satisfied that
the level of risk has reduced to that level and is fully mitigated,
it may direct that the risk be removed from the assurance
framework.
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Engaging the public in risk management
The Board Assurance Framework is discussed quarterly at
Board meetings held in public. This helps provide assurance to
public stakeholders that risks affecting them are being managed
effectively. Additionally key risks are discussed and debated at
the CCG’s Patient and Public Involvement Committee, an example
being engaging Committee members in managing the risk of failing
to improve quality and outcomes at West Hertfordshire Hospitals
NHS Trust and involving them in actively managing this risk.

Risks to governance, compliance, management and internal control
During 2015-16 the CCG identified the following significant risks to
the achievement of its strategic objectives:
• Failure to improve engagement with member practices, patients,
the public and carers to contribute to and influence the work of
the CCG because of
o Risk that we fail to engage effectively with a range of our
patients, population and stakeholders
o Risk that member practices do not see the potential positive
impact of their engagement with the CCG
o Insufficient capacity in primary care to implement planned
changes

• Failure to commission safe, high quality services that meet the
population’s needs, reducing health inequalities and supporting
local people to avoid ill health and stay well because of
o Risk that not all NHS Constitution pledges, targets and
priorities are met
o Risk that we are unable to ensure high quality, safe and
sustainable services for the patients and population of west
Hertfordshire
o Risk of poor health outcomes for our population, especially in
areas of deprivation
• Failure to work with health and social care partners to transform
the delivery of care through the implementation of ‘Your Care,
Your Future’ the strategic review in west Hertfordshire because
of
o Lack of resource and commitment from national bodies and
key stakeholders
o Lack of workforce capacity and capability across health and
social care organisations
• Failure to ensure that there is a financially sustainable and
affordable healthcare system across west Hertfordshire because
o QIPP plans are not delivered
o Financial balance is not achieved in 2015-16
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Internal audit undertook a review of Risk Management and
Assurance in 2015-16 and provided a partial assurance opinion.
This reflected concerns about operational risk management within
the CCG’s directorates and not the Board Assurance Framework
processes which were considered robust.
The auditors concluded “Taking account of the issues identified,
the Board can take partial assurance that the controls to manage
this risk are suitably designed and consistently applied. Action
is needed to strengthen the control framework to manage the
identified risk(s). Whilst only partial assurance could be provided
over the effectiveness of controls in place, the audit noted that
improvements had been made since the previous audit undertaken
in 2014-15, particularly in relation to the design and use of the
Board Assurance Framework. However, there is need for further
work to be undertaken by the CCG to strengthen operational
risk management arrangements, as this was the area where
the majority of weaknesses were identified as part of the audit
review”. An action plan has been put in place strengthen this area.

The CCG’s internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures
in place in the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and
objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed
to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Audit Committee has oversight of the internal control
mechanisms on behalf of the Board. Executive directors and the
Commissioning Executive Committee oversee the management
and delivery of internal control mechanisms. The Audit Committee
bases its assessments, and therefore assurances, on the
effectiveness of the CCG’s controls on:
• Assurances provided by the Board and Committees’ work
programmes;
• Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (eg annual review of
Detailed Financial Policies);
• Provision of assurance from independent sources (eg internal or
external audit or third party reviews undertaken)

Information “governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets out the
processes and procedures by which the NHS handles information
about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other
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organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
Information governance is embedded within the CCG, supported
by relevant policies and procedures and expert staff who are able
to advise on the correct access and processing rules. All staff
undertake mandatory information governance training on an
annual basis. There are processes in place for incident reporting
and recording of serious incidents, including informing the
Information Commissioner’s Office.
During 2015-16 the national Health and Social Care Information
Centre (HSCIC) continued to rely on a number of temporary and
renewed legal permissions for the processing of patient data
and access to this by CCGs via a number of Data Services for
Commissioners Regional Offices (DSCROs). Herts Valleys CCG has a
service level agreement in place with the DSCRO operated by North
East London Commissioning Support Unit to ensure the onward
flow of activity monitoring information based on providers’ patientlevel information flows.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness
of the use of resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial
performance of the CCG was monitored on a monthly basis by the
Board and its Quality and Performance Committee. The Quality
and Performance Committee is chaired by a Lay Member of the
Board. Corporate risks in respect of financial performance and the
use of resources are captured in the Board Assurance Framework,
Corporate Risk Register and directorate level risk registers. The
highest level risks are reported to the Audit Committee and Board
of the CCG.
Concern about the CCG’s failure to deliver all of its QIPP plans, the
actions taken to ensure achievement of the financial surplus for
the year and the underlying financial position of the local health
system resulted in the auditors issuing a qualified value for money
opinion for 2014-15. Significant progress on this has been made
in 2015-16 and this was reflected in the positive outcomes of an
internal audit review of financial planning and reporting processes,
with a particular emphasis on the management and monitoring of
transformation (QIPP) schemes, published in March 2016.
During 2015-16 the CCG contributed £94.9m in a combination
of cash and contractual arrangements into the Hertfordshire
Better Care Fund. New governance arrangements, including joint
executive meetings with the Council’s Health and Community
Services directorate management team were initiated. In addition a
number of other services, outside the Better Care Fund, continued
to be commissioned collaboratively with Hertfordshire County
Council and with East and North Hertfordshire CCG. Monthly
financial and performance reports included information in respect
of collaboratively commissioned services.

Annual governance statement (continued)

Financial performance in 2015-16 showed adverse variances
to plan part way through the year, as a result of higher costs of
acute sector activity than had been planned for in contracts at the
start of the year and under-achievement of QIPP savings targets.
An internal mitigation plan was agreed to recover the financial
position and a new clinically-led Financial Effectiveness Group

established to oversee this. Additional overspend forecasts on
continuing healthcare placements at the end of the year resulted
in NHS England processing a non-recurrent allocation increase
of £3m to the CCG. This was made possible by a transfer from
East and North Hertfordshire CCG. Throughout the year, the CCG
continued to forecast a break-even position which was delivered.
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Review of effectiveness of governance, risk management
and internal control
As the Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG.

Capacity to handle risk

and locality level risk registers and for there to be a Corporate Risk
Register to capture the highest level risks. The Board Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register are reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board. The Director of Nursing and Quality is
the CCG’s executive lead for risk.

• Continually promoting risk management and demonstrating
leadership, involvement and support

The CCG’s employees receive training and support from the Risk
Manager and there is an operational Risk Management Group
in place with representation from all of the CCG’s directorates
to provide a forum for support and challenge and to encourage
reporting of risk at all levels in the CCG.

• Ensuring an appropriate committee structure is in place and
ensuring each receives regular risk reports

Review of effectiveness

As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for risk
management and discharge this by:

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is
• Ensuring that the Board, executive team, clinical directors and
senior managers are appointed with managerial responsibility for informed by the work of the internal auditors and the managerial
and clinical leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the
risk management.
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I
All risk owners have received coaching in the risk management
have also considered the comments made by the external auditors
process and this has been supplemented with written guidance. In
in the management letter and other reports.
addition, on a regular basis, the Risk Manager assists risk owners
to review the controls, actions and assurances in respect of each
risk.
The CCG’s Board Assurance Framework provides me with evidence
The Board is responsible for the performance management of the
risk management strategy and procedure and systems of clinical,
financial and organisational control. It oversees the overall system
of risk management and assurance to satisfy itself that the CCG is
fulfilling its organisational responsibilities and is supported in that
function by its committees

Risk management leadership
The CCG’s Risk Management Framework describes the process
for executive leads to update the Board Assurance Framework
and for staff across the CCG to maintain directorate, programme
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that controls are in place to manage risks to the organisation’s
strategic objectives and that these are subject to review, including
by the Board. I have been advised on the implications of the
results of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the Board, the Audit Committee, the Quality and
Performance Committee and the Commissioning Executive. A plan
to address identified weakness in controls and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.
The CCG has in place processes for maintaining and reviewing
the effectiveness of its systems of internal control. The Board
oversees this and directs the work plans of its committees. The

Annual governance statement (continued)

Audit Committee has specific responsibilities regarding oversight
and assurance, working with internal and external auditors and
ensuring management actions to respond to recommendations for
improved controls are taken in a timely manner.
The internal audit work plan is based on risk assessment of the
CCG’s key functions and the internal auditors’ knowledge of risks
encountered in other CCG clients.

Head of Internal Audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial
year for the CCG, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent
and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal
control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:

Data quality
Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate
services. The CCG’s Business Information and Performance team
provide key metrics to all committees and to CCG directors and
their staff to enable discharge of their respective functions.
Collaboration agreements are in place between the CCG, East and
North Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire County Council, local NHS
providers, North and East London CSU and commercial partners to
allow the necessary data flows. The Board considers the quality of
data it receives to be acceptable.

Business critical models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and
environment continued to be in place during 2015-16 to provide
quality assurance of business critical models.

The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk
Data security
management, governance and internal control.
The CCG has submitted a satisfactory level 2 compliance with the
However, our work has identified further enhancements to the
Information Governance toolkit assessment for 2015-16. There
framework of risk management, governance and internal control to
have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security
ensure that it remains adequate and effective.
breaches reported to the Information Commissioner; one personal
data related incident referred to in the Members Report was
Factors and findings which have informed our opinion
reported to the ICO.
Whilst no Red (no assurance) opinions have been provided to the
Discharge of statutory functions
CCG during the year, the following reports have been issued with
amber red (partial assurance) opinions.
During 2015-16 the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties
and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act,
• Risk Management and Assurance: For this area, the Board can
2006, as amended, and other associated legislative regulations. I
take partial assurance that the controls to manage this risk are
can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements
suitably designed and consistently applied. The reason for this
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it
opinion was due to weaknesses in operational risk management,
is responsible, including any restrictions on delegating those
although the Board Assurance Framework itself was found to be
functions.
robust.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated
• Organisational Development
to an executive lead officer. Lead officers have confirmed that
• Procurement – Enhanced Community Respiratory
their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to
ServicesContinuing Health Care
undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties.
We will follow up on these reports as part of our ongoing follow
Conclusion
up process to determine whether improvements in the control

environment are put into place as a result of our audit review.

Audit Committee Response to Risk Management and Assurance
Framework Audit

I can conclude that no significant internal control issues have
been identified during 2015-16. The Audit Committee Chair
confirms that this conclusion is consistent with the work of the
Audit Committee throughout the year and with the final Head of
Internal Audit Opinion.

The Audit Committee considered the amber/red assurance opinion
in relation to the risk management audit at its meeting of 31
March 2016. The Committee noted the improvements that had
taken place in recent months in relation to the Board Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register. It also supported a series
Cameron Ward
of actions being implemented during 2016 to address gaps in the
Interim Accountable Officer
operational risk registers.
25 May 2016
The Committee will further consider the audit reports on
Organisational Development, Procurement and Continuing Health
Care during May and July 2016.
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Remuneration Policy (not subject to audit)
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by national
terms and conditions – Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. The
CCG’s senior managers are employed under the nationally agreed
contractual arrangements, all having been employed on permanent
contracts which include an appropriate notice period. There is no
provision in the contracts for termination payments save for any
contractual entitlements to redundancy compensation which
would be calculated using the agreed NHS formula.

financial recognition for high achieving performance in the form of
access to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are assessed
against the rates that other commissioning groups and local NHS
bodies offer for similar roles.

Salaries and allowances (subject to audit)

The table below details the salaries and allowances of Board
members and other senior managers who were part of the CCG’s
Executive Team or regularly attended Board meetings during
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for
senior managers or any of our staff. The Remuneration Committee the year.
reviewed and agreed in 2014-15 proposals for introducing non-

Remuneration for members of the Board: Salaries and allowances in 2015‐16
Name and Title

Nicola Bell ‐ Accountable Officer
Alan Warren ‐ Chief Finance Officer

Salary and
fees
(bands of
£5,000)

Annual
performance
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Long term
performance
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

All pension
related benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0

£000
5‐7.5
0‐2.5
20‐22.5

£000
135‐140
110‐115
150‐155

0

0

0

2.5‐5.0

105‐110

0

0

0

15‐17.5

120‐125

1

0

0

25‐27.5

60‐65

2

0

0

40‐42.5

90‐95

1

0

0

20‐22.5

100‐105

0

0

0

10‐12.5

50‐55

1

0

0

17.5‐20.0

75‐80

3
Taxable
benefits
1
(rounded to
0
the nearest
£100)
0
£00
0
0
0
0
0

0
Annual
0
performance
related 0bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
0
£000
0
0
0
0
0

0
Long term
0
performance
related 0bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
0
£000
0
0
0
0
0

17.5‐20.0
All pension
related 0benefits
(bands
of
17.5‐20.0
£2,500)
0
£000
0
0
15‐17.5
2.5‐5.0
0

75‐80
Total
75‐80
(bands of
90‐95
£5,000)
50‐55
£000
75‐80
60‐65
90‐95
75‐80
10‐15

10‐15
10‐15
10‐15

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

10‐15
10‐15
10‐15

5‐10

0

0

0

0

5‐10

£000
125‐130
105‐110
130‐135

Nicolas Small ‐ GP Director & CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes ‐ GP Director and Deputy
100‐105
Clinical Chair
Charles Allan ‐ Director of Commissioning and
100‐105
Strategy
Jan Norman ‐ Director of Nursing & Quality
35‐40
(April 2015 ‐ August 2015)
Diane Curbishley ‐ Acting Director of Nursing
& Quality (September 2015 ‐ February 2016)
50‐55
Director of Nursing & Quality (March 2016)
Juliet Rodgers ‐ Associate Director of
80‐85
Communications
Louise Gaffney ‐ Interim Director of Strategy
40‐45
(April 2015 ‐ August 2015)
Simon Eckett ‐ Director of Strategy, Planning
55‐60
and Delivery (September 2015 ‐ March 2016)
Hein Scheffer ‐ Director of Workforce
55‐60
(September 2015 ‐ March 2016)
Salary
and
David Buckle ‐ Medical Director ( May 2015 ‐
75‐80
fees
March 2016) Name and Title
(bands
75‐80of
Richard Pile ‐ GP Director
£5,000)
50‐55
Michael Edwards ‐ GP Director
£000
75‐80
Rami Eliad ‐ GP Director
60‐65
Keith Hodge ‐ GP Director
75‐80
Clair Moring ‐ GP Director
75‐80
Mike Walton ‐ GP Director
10‐15
Bob Ghosh ‐ Secondary Care Doctor Member
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Stuart Bloom ‐ Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair
Alison Gardner ‐ Lay Member
Paul Smith ‐ Lay Member
Thelma Stober ‐ Lay Member (August 2015 ‐
March 2016)

Taxable
benefits
(rounded to
the nearest
£100)
£00
3
0
0
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Remuneration for members of the Board: Salaries and allowances in 2014‐15
Name and Title

Nicola Bell ‐ Accountable Officer
Alan Warren ‐ Chief Finance Officer
Nicolas Small ‐ GP Director & CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes ‐ GP Director & Deputy
Clinical Chair
Charles Allan ‐ Director of Commissioning
and Strategy
Jan Norman ‐ Director of Nursing &
Quality (April 2015 ‐ August 2015)
Juliet Rodgers ‐ Associate Director of
Communications
Louise Gaffney ‐ Interim Director of
Strategy (April 2015 ‐ August 2015)
Richard Pile ‐ GP Director
Michael Edwards ‐ GP Director
Rami Eliad ‐ GP Director
Keith Hodge ‐ GP Director
Clair Moring ‐ GP Director
Mike Walton Name
‐ GP Director
and Title
Bob Ghosh‐Secondary Care Doctor
Member
Stuart Bloom ‐ Lay Member & CCG Vice
Chair
Alison Gardner ‐ Lay Member
Paul Smith ‐ Lay Member

Salary and
fees
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
125‐130
105‐110

Taxable
benefits
(rounded to
the nearest
£100)
£00
4
1

Annual
performance
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Long term
performance
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

All pension
related benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0
0

£000
0
0

£000
0
0

£000
125‐130
105‐110

140‐145

0

0

0

32.5‐35

170‐175

100‐105

0

0

0

17.5‐20

115‐120

100‐105

2

0

0

2.5‐5

100‐105

100‐105

3

0

0

0

100‐105

80‐85

0

0

0

17.5‐20

95‐100

12.5‐15
30‐32.5
0
0
0
All pension
5‐7.5
related
benefits
0
(bands of
£2,500)
0

110‐115
105‐110
50‐55
75‐80
60‐65
Total
80‐85of
(bands
75‐80
£5,000)

0
0
0

10‐15
10‐15
10‐15

100‐105
75‐80
50‐55
75‐80
60‐65
Salary
and
75‐80
fees
75‐80of
(bands
£5,000)
25‐30
10‐15
10‐15
10‐15

0
0
0
0
0
Taxable
0
benefits
0 to
(rounded
the nearest
£100) 0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
Annual 0
0
performance
0
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
Long term0
0
performance
0
related bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
0
0
0
0

25‐30

In line with Schedule 8 8(3) of SI 2013/1981, negative values disclosed in Herts Valleys CCG annual report 2014‐15 for all pension‐related benefits
have been changed to 0 in the table above . These changes relate to the final two columns of the table only.

Notes on salaries and allowances table
1. L
 ouise Gaffney, Interim Director of Strategy was seconded to the
CCG from West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT): the
CCG reimbursed WHHT for the costs incurred. The entry in the
table above recognises the costs reimbursed by the CCG.
2. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration,
there will be no entries in respect of pension benefits for Lay
Members.				
3. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the
‘HMRC method’. In summary, this is as follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
• PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to
the individual if they became entitled to it at the end of the
financial year				
• PB is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to
the individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of
the financial year
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• LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to
the individual if they became entitled to it at the end of the
financial year
• LSB is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the
individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the
financial year.				
4. Details of the pensions and lump sums payable are provided by
NHS Pensions.
5.The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the
reimbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The
benefit arises from the mileage allowance payments made to all
staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their
own vehicle for business travel. Herts Valleys CCG pays the rate
per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC
“approved mileage allowance payments” rate in 2015-16 of 45p
a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
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Remuneration and Staff Report (continued)

Pension benefits (subject to audit)
Relating to the period 1 April
2015 to 31 March 2016

Name and title
Nicola Bell ‐ Accountable
Officer
Alan Warren ‐ Chief Finance
Officer
Charles Allan ‐ Director of
Commissioning and Strategy
Jan Norman ‐ Director of
Nursing & Quality (April 2015 ‐
August 2015)
Diane Curbishley ‐ Acting
Director of Nursing & Quality
(September 2015 ‐ March
2016)
Juliet Rodgers ‐ Associate
Director of Communications ‐
Relating
Note
1 to the period 1 April
2015 toGaffney
31 March
2016
Louise
‐ Interim
Director of Strategy (April
2015 ‐ August 2015)
Simon Eckett ‐ Director of
Strategy, Planning and
Delivery (September 2015 ‐
March 2016) ‐ Note1
Name and title
Hein Scheffer ‐ Director of
Workforce (September 2015 ‐
March 2016) ‐ Note 1
Nicolas Small ‐ GP Director and
CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes ‐ GP Director
and Deputy Clinical Chair
Richard Pile ‐ GP Director
Michael Edwards ‐ GP Director
Clair Moring ‐ GP Director
Mike Walton ‐ GP Director

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2016
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
0‐2.5

Real increase
in lump sum
at pension age
related to real
increase in
pension
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
2.5‐5.0

0‐2.5

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at
1 April
2015

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value
funded by CCG

Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2016

Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder
pension

£000
45‐50

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March 2016
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
145‐150

£000
1,015

£000
18

£000
1,063

£00
0

0‐2.5

50‐55

160‐165

1,160

14

1,200

0

0‐2.5

0

30‐35

75‐80

588

13

619

0

0‐2.5

2.5‐5.0

45‐50

145‐150

935

23

1,051

0

0‐2.5

5‐7.5

30‐35

90‐95

413

21

489

0

0‐2.5

0

5‐10

0

108

11

130

0

Real increase
in pension
0‐2.5 at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)
0‐2.5

Total accrued
pension
at
25‐30
pension age at
31 March 2016
(bands0‐5
of
£5,000)

Real increase in
cash equivalent
3
transfer value
funded by CCG
7

Cash
equivalent
484
transfer value
at 31 March
2016 44

Employer's
contribution
to
0
stakeholder
pension
0

£000
10‐15

Lump sum at
age
pension
80‐85
related to
accrued
pension0at
31 March 2016
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

Cash
equivalent
462
transfer
value at
1 April
19
2015

£000
0‐2.5

Real increase
in lump0 sum
at pension age
related to real
increase
0 in
pension
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
0

£000
106

£000
7

£000
130

£00
0

0‐2.5

5‐7.5

25‐30

80‐85

526

20

574

0‐2.5

2.5‐5.0

15‐20

55‐60

338

11

364

0

0‐2.5
0‐2.5
0‐2.5
0‐2.5

0‐2.5
0‐2.5
0‐2.5
0‐2.5

15‐20
40‐45
10‐15
25‐30

55‐60
125‐130
35‐40
75‐80

263
813
203
463

7
4
9
7

280
830
225
484

0
0
0
0

Notes on pensions table
1. As a member of the 2008/2015 Section of the NHS Pension
Scheme no lump sum is automatically payable.
2. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially
assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued
by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent
spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable
from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the
Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations
2008.
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0

3. Real Increases in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the
employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension
due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the
start and end of the period.
4. On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced
a change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past
Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate
affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and
60
prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for
members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous
discount rate and have not been recalculated.

Remuneration and Staff Report (continued)

Payments for loss of office (subject to audit)

Gender breakdown (as at 1 April 2016) (subject to audit)

During 2015-16 there were no payments of money or other assets
to any individual who was a senior manager in the year, or in a
previous year, for loss of office.

Board members (including Very Senior Manager pay framework
grades)

Payments to past senior managers (subject to audit)
During 2015-16 there were no payments of money or other assets
to any individual who had previously been a senior manager that
are required to be disclosed.

Male
%

Headcount

%

11

68.75

5

31.25

Senior Managers – Band 8a and above

Pay multiples (subject to audit)
The CCG is required to disclose the relationship between the
highest paid director in the organisation and the median
remuneration of the CCG’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Herts
Valleys CCG in the financial year 2015-16 was £130,000 - £135,000
(2014-15: £140,000 - £145,000). This was 3.4 times
(2014-15: 3.9 times) the median remuneration of the CCG’s
workforce which was £36,681 (2014-15: £36,162).
The reduction in the multiple reflects the reduction in the
remuneration of the highest paid director.
In 2014-15 and 2015-16 no employee received remuneration
in excess of the highest paid director on the CCG’s Board. The
reduction in the highest paid director’s remuneration between
2014-15 and 2015-16 reflected a decision by the Chair to spend
more time as a practising GP.

Female

Headcount

Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

19

27.53

50

72.43%

All other bands (band 7 and below)
Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

17

19.11

72

80.89%

Sickness absence (not subject to audit)

Sickness absence (not subject to audit)
Sickness absence data relating to the 2015 calendar year extracted
from the Health and Social Care Information Centre.
• Total days lost: 1983 calendar days, equivalent to 1223 working
days (source: NHS sickness absence figures for NHS 2015-16
financial accounts)

• Average absence per employee: 9 days
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated
performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include • Long term absence episodes: 15 (taken from the Electronic Staff
Record (ESR) system used by the Human Resources team)
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
• Long term days total: 1125 days (taken from ESR; included in
total days lost)
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Remuneration and Staff Report (continued)

Staff policies applied during the year (not subject to audit)

The principal transactions are summarised in the table below:

The following new staff policies were applied during the year:

Consultancy provider

• Shared parental leave policy

Deloitte LLP

Amount (£)

Purpose

1,113,776

Your Care, Your Future

Grayling Communications Ltd

471,126

Your Care, Your Future

Expertology Ltd

109,093

Your Care, Your Future

LA Starkey Consulting Ltd

89,421

Your Care, Your Future

• Work Shadowing Scheme

Videre Management Services Ltd

86,973

Your Care, Your Future

All staff policies are available on our website www.hertsvalleysccg.
nhs.uk (search policies)

Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

72,988

Your Care, Your Future

Job applications from disabled persons: Two ticks scheme
(not subject to audit)

HRJ Solutions Limited

58,515

Clinical Services
Procurement support

SSG Partners Ltd

58,000

WHHT Capacity
modelling

Outhentics Consulting

15,844

Your Care, Your Future

Clinical Procurement Solutions Ltd

13,125

Clinical Services
Procurement support

West Suffolk NHS Foundation
Trust

12,000

East of England
Collaborative
Procurement Hub

Hempsons Solicitors

11,803

Your Care, Your Future

Programmes for Health
Limited

10,800

Clinical Services
Procurement support

• Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
• Paid Volunteering Leave Policy

Herts Valleys was re-assessed and approved to use the Job Centre
Plus positive about disabled people “two ticks” symbol. This
means Herts Valleys have made five commitments. These are:
• Interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria
for a job vacancy and consider them on their abilities
• Ensure there is a mechanism in place to discuss, at any time, but
at least once a year, with disabled employees what can be done
to make sure they can develop and use their abilities
• Make every effort when employees become disables to make
sure they stay in employment

All other providers (<£10,000
each), accruals and recharges
Total

-1,311,219

Various

812,245

• Take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate
level of disability awareness needed to make these commitments
work
Off-payroll engagements table 1 (not subject to audit)

Expenditure on consultancy (not subject to audit)
The CCG recorded net expenditure of £812,245 on management
consultancy providers in 2015-16. The largest providers were
Deloitte LLP, Grayling Communications Ltd and Expertology Ltd
who all provided support to the west Hertfordshire-wide Your Care,
Your Future strategy work. Costs of this project were shared across
health and social care organisations via a recharge to Hertfordshire
County Council.

Off payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220
per day and lasting longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016

35

Of which, the number that have existed
For less than one year at the time of reporting

25

For between two and three years at the time of reporting

2

For between two and three years at the time of reporting

8

For between three and four years at the time of
reporting

0

For four or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above been subject
to a risk based assessment as to whether the individual is paying
the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has
been sought. Thirty of the off-payroll engagements disclosed relate
to GPs undertaking Locality Chair and Vice-Chair and Clinical Lead
roles where payments are made to the host practice rather than
the individual GP.
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Off-payroll engagements table 2 (not subject to audit)
Off payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016,
for more than £220 per day and lasting longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March
20165

33

Number of new engagements which included
contractual clauses giving NHS Herts Valleys CCG the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and
national insurance obligations

9

9

Of which,
Assurance has been received

9

Assurance has not been received

0

Engagements terminated as a result of assurance
not being received

0

Number of
Cost of
compulsory
compulsory
redundancies redundancies

Number
of other
departures
agreed

Off payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and
31 March 2016:

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members,
and/or senior officers with significant financial
responsibility, during the year

1

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘Board
members, and/or senior officers with significant
financial responsibility’ during the financial year.
This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll
engagements.

24

Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer

The CCG has taken a decision from 1 April 2016 to place on its
payroll all GPs whose commitment to undertake work on behalf

Exit Package Cost
Band (including
any special pay
element)

Off-payroll engagements table 3 (not subject to audit)

Number

Number
Number for whom assurance has been requested

of the CCG extends to more than one session per week. This will
significantly reduce the number of GPs included in off-payroll
disclosure figures in subsequent years.

25 May 2016

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Cost of
special
payment
element
included in
exit packages

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

3

0

3

0

£10,000-£25,000

1

13,417

1

13,417

£25,001-£50,000

1

29,885

1

29,885

£50,001-£100,000

2

155,787

2

155,787

7

199,089

7

199,089

Did not qualify

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

Total cost of
exit packages

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made

Total number
of exit
packages

£s

Less than £10,000

£100,001-£150,000
£150,001-£200,000
>£200,001
Totals

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in
accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change pay
scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are accounted for
in full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by the CCG and not by the

NHS pension scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the
NHS pensions scheme and are not included in the table.

Non-compulsory redundancies
There were no non-compulsory redundancies during the period.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
the board of NHS Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Herts Valleys
Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31
March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 201516 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015-16 FReM) as
contained in the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts
2015-16 (the 2015-16 MfA) and the Accounts Direction issued by
the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary
of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the
Accounts Direction).

As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and
Accountabilty Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report
must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper
arrangements are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether
all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating
effectively.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and
Staff Report that is described in that report as having been subject and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
to audit.
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
This report is made solely to the members of the Board of
includes an assessment of:
NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group, as a body, in
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability
circumstances and have been consistently applied and
Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public adequately disclosed;
Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Board
the Accountable Officer; and
of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Board of the
in the annual report and accounts to identify material
CCG, as a body, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and
auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring
the regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is
to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity
of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as
required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the “Code
of Audit Practice”).
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identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired
by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware
of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded
in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to
the authorities which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of
Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified
criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in
November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements

to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for
taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General
determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether
the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2016.

reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about
to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve
the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take,
or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to
its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24
Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure • we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
resources for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Certificate
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2016 and of We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of
NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance
its net operating expenditure for the year then ended; and
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health
2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.
and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts Direction issued
thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income
recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in
the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern
them.

Lisa Clampin
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Appointed Auditor
Ipswich, UK
26 May 2015
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and
Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Annual
Report Directions made under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and
• the other information published together with the audited
financial statements in the annual report and accounts is
consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not
comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning
Board; or
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have
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Financial Statements

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2016
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest
Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year
The notes on pages 52 to 65 form part of this statement.

48

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

4.1
5
2

9,939
701,583
(509)
711,013

7,979
660,361
(273)
668,067

4.1
5
2

8,157
5,351
(509)
12,999

7,273
7,223
(49)
14,447

4.1
5
2

1,782
696,232
0
698,014

706
653,138
(224)
653,620

711,013

668,067

Financial Statements

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2016

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

31 March 2016
Note

£000

31 March 2015
£000

7
8

4,889
163
5,052

4,462
527
4,989

9
10

(44,796)
(652)
(45,448)

(46,425)
(555)
(46,980)

Net Current Liabilities

(40,396)

(41,991)

Assets less Liabilities

(40,396)

(41,991)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(40,396)
(40,396)

(41,991)
(41,991)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

The notes on pages 52 to 65 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 48 to 51 were approved by the Governing Body on 25 May 2016 and signed on
its behalf by:

Interim Accountable Officer
Cameron Ward
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2016

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Total
taxpayers'
equity
£000

(41,991)
(41,991)

(41,991)
(41,991)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(711,013)

(711,013)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

(711,013)

(711,013)

Net funding

712,608

712,608

Balance at 31 March 2016

(40,396)

(40,396)

Balance at 1 April 2015
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

General
fund
£000

Total
taxpayers'
equity
£000

(32,101)
(32,101)

(32,101)
(32,101)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating costs for the financial year

(668,067)

(668,067)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

(668,067)

(668,067)

Net funding

658,177

658,177

Balance at 31 March 2015

(41,991)

(41,991)

Balance at 1 April 2014
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014

The notes on pages 52 to 65 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2016
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

Note

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

(711,013)
(427)
(1,629)
(3)
100
(712,972)

(668,067)
1,055
9,228
(85)
154
(657,715)

(712,972)

(657,715)

712,608
712,608

658,177
658,177

(364)

462

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

527

65

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

163

527

7
9
10
10

Net Cash Outflow before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

8

The notes on pages 52 to 65 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of
the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the
Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to
clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where
the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The
particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing
with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health
Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from
the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:
·
The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
·
The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
·
The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
·
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the clinical
commissioning group recognises:
·
·
·

1.4

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management have made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

1.4.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.4.2.1 Prescription Services
The Clinical Commissioning Group receives financial information from NHS Prescription Services who process prescription items to
reimburse and remunerate pharmacy contractors. In addition they supply the CCG with information relating to the cost of drugs
prescribed by Independent GP’s, CCG run Practices and other CCG Services.
Information is available two months in arrears and therefore the CCG must estimate February and March costs using the PPA
estimated cumulative profile to provide the total expenditure in the year. The estimate for 2015-16 was £11,794k (2014-15 £11,574k)
and was based on information provided by NHS Business Services Authority, and included in Trade and Other Payables.
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1.4.2.2 Continuing Care Provision

A provision of £451k has been created, representing the estimated cost to the clinical commissioning group settling 25 outstanding
appeals and retrospective claims seeking continuing health care funding. The estimated cost of settlement is calculated by taking into
account the number of days of care for which the appeal/claim is lodged multiplied by the average cost of care (estimated at £800 per
week) and an estimate for interest payments applicable to each claim.
1.4.2.3 Secondary Healthcare
Secondary care activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not
available in time for the accounts and estimates are made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual
activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a
charge or credit in the next financial year.
1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair
value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6

Employee Benefits

1.6.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent
that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme fo
the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount
of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the
retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured
at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.9

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s
discount rate as follows:
·
·
·

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
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1.10

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.11

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are
risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.12

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March
2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.13

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the
case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

1.14

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.14.1

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest method.

1.15

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of
VAT.

1.16

Associates
Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain economic
or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts using the equity
method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the clinical commissioning group’s share
of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by the clinical commissioning
group from the entity.

1.17

Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other parties but which
are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains
and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.

1.18

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, a
of which are subject to consultation:
·
·
·

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that
year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2015-16
Total

2015-16
Admin

2015-16
Programme

2014-15
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

102
405
2
509

102
405
2
509

0
0
0
0

1
272
0
273

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG
and credited to the General Fund.
3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2015-16
Total
£000
509
0
509

2015-16
Admin
£000
509
0
509

2015-16
Programme
£000
0
0
0

2014-15
Total
£000
273
0
273
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Total

7,979
7,979

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

5,558

5,558

4,345
421
601
191
5,558

Total

2,421

2,421

2,332
36
53
0
2,421

Other
£000

2,278

2,278

2,245
11
22
0
2,278

Other
£000

7,273

7,273

6,082
413
587
191
7,273

Total
£000

8,157

8,157

6,863
521
703
70
8,157

Total
£000

Admin

1,707

1,707

1,674
11
22
0
1,707

Other
£000

4,923

4,923

3,821
377
534
191
4,923

2,350

2,350

2,261
36
53
0
2,350

Admin
Permanent
Other
Employees
£000
£000

6,450

6,450

5,189
510
681
70
6,450

Permanent
Employees
£000

Expenditure in 2015-16 is significantly higher than in 2014-15 due to the full year impact of staff transferring into the CCG from Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit.

6,677
457
654
191
7,979

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to the NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

7,661

9,939

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs
2014-15

7,661

9,939

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

4.1a Employee benefits 2014-15

6,176
593
822
70
7,661

Permanent
Employees
£000

8,421
604
844
70
9,939

Total
£000

2015-16

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

4.1 Employee benefits

4 Employee benefits and staff numbers

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16

Total
£000

706

706

595
44
67
0
706

1,782

1,782

1,558
83
141
0
1,782

Total
£000

635

635

524
44
67
0
635

Programme
Permanent
Other
Employees
£000
£000

1,211

1,211

987
83
141
0
1,211

Other
£000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
£000

71

71

71
0
0
0
71

571

571

571
0
0
0
571
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2015-16
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total

2014-15
Other
Number

Total
Number

158

131

27

123

0

0

0

0

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

The increase in staff numbers is due to the full year impact of staff transferring into the CCG from Central Eastern Commissioning Support Unit.
4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2015-16
Number
1,223
137
8.9

Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2014-15
Number
474
71
6.7

The Department of Health requires sickness absence data to be reported on a calendar year basis.

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

2015-16
Number
0

2014-15
Number
0

£000
0

£000
0

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
2015-16
Compulsory redundancies
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Number

0
1
1
2
0
0
0
4

£

0
13,417
29,885
155,787
0
0
0
199,089

2015-16
Total
Number

0
1
1
2
0
0
0
4

2014-15
Compulsory redundancies
£

0
13,417
29,885
155,787
0
0
0
199,089

Number

0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1

£

0
0
0
0
0
191,150
0
191,150

2014-15
Total
Number

0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1

£

0
0
0
0
0
191,150
0
191,150

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or
in full in a previous year. During the financial year, there were three redundancies that did not qualify for exit packages.
Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:
4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and
to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as
at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £874,020 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £647,639) at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s
actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used
data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2014.
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5 Operating expenses

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2015-16
Total
£000

2015-16
Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

8,353
1,586
9,939

6,571
1,586
8,157

1,782
0
1,782

6,557
1,422
7,979

634
97,096
362,591
150,596
564
3,342
812
1,823
0
358
88

0
0
0
0
564
2,479
802
753
0
330
88

634
97,096
362,591
150,596
0
863
10
1,070
0
28
0

5,064
82,355
367,982
121,809
621
2,331
1,294
1,123
8
1,257
117

28
4
73,974
6,188
200
139
99
2,777
270
701,583

28
4
0
0
182
121
0
0
0
5,351

0
0
73,974
6,188
18
18
99
2,777
270
696,232

50
3
69,839
4,847
245
94
154
941
227
660,361

711,522

13,508

698,014

668,340

6 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£000

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

21,354
20,761
97.22%

166,664
157,698
94.62%

24,347
23,911
98.21%

154,564
149,435
96.68%

4,054
3,310
81.65%

471,730
461,381
97.81%

4,183
3,296
78.80%

448,315
439,489
98.03%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.
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7 Trade and other receivables

Current
2015-16
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS prepayments
Non-NHS accrued income
VAT
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

2,814
1,443
409
81
76
65
1
4,889

2,136
1,369
605
344
0
8
0
4,462

Total current and non current

4,889

4,462

The great majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no credit scoring is
considered necessary.
8 Cash and cash equivalents
2015-16
£000

527
(364)
163

2014-15
£000
65
462
527

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

163
163

527
527

Balance at 31 March

163

527

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

There are no patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group in 2015-16 and 2014-15.
9 Trade and other payables

Current
2015-16
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

12,371
4,563
6,511
18,099
95
96
3,061
44,796

18,838
4,911
7,105
14,855
83
83
550
46,425

Total current and non-current

44,796

46,425

Other payables principally include £140k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016 (£124k - 31
March 2015) and also Primary Care Plus accruals of £1.7m (£nil - 2015-16).
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10 Provisions

Redundancy
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Current
2015-16
£000

158
451
43
652
652

Redundancy
£000s
Balance at 1 April 2015

Current
2014-15
£000

28
484
43
555
555

Continuing
Care
£000s

Other
£000s

Total
£000s

28

484

43

555

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2016

130
0
0
158

385
(3)
(415)
451

0
0
0
43

515
(3)
(415)
652

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2016

158
158

451
451

43
43

652
652

The continuing care provision of £451k relates to the estimated cost of settling 25 outstanding appeals seeking continuing health care funding.
The provision of £43k relates to dilapidations in respect of premises at George Street and Isbister Centre.

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to
periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of the clinical commissioning group at 31
March 2016 is £6,998k (£7,490k in 2015-16).
11 Financial instruments
11.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the year in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS
Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
11.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the
trade and other receivables note.
11.1.2 Liquidity risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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11 Financial instruments cont'd
11.2 Financial assets

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March

11.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March

Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£000
2,814
485
163
1
3,463

Other
2015-16
£000
16,935
27,670
44,605

Total
2015-16
£000
2,814
485
163
1
3,463

Total
2015-16
£000
16,935
27,670
44,605

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000
2,136
605
527
0
3,268

Other
2014-15
£000
23,749
22,510
46,259

Total
2014-15
£000
2,136
605
527
0
3,268

Total
2014-15
£000
23,749
22,510
46,259

12 Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group consider they have only one segment in 2015-16 and 2014-15: commissioning of healthcare
services.

61

62

Contribution :
·
Contribution
·
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Contribution :
·
Contribution
·
Expenditure
Total Variance:

6,749
6,755
(6)

Total PooledBudget
2014-15
£000
1,904
1,898
6

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2014-15
£000

1,704
1,721
(17)

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

Equipment Service

6,344
6,545
(201)

Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Equipment and Wheelchair
Service

66,719
66,729
(10)

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

292,435
292,132
303

Total PooledBudget
2014-15
£000

62,795
62,730
65

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2014-15
£000

Mental Health & Learning
Disabilities

304,531
304,538
(7)

Total
PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Mental Health & Learning
Disabilities

64,699
64,628
71

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2014-15
£000

All Pooled
Funds

14,920
14,919
1

Total PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

14,920
14,919
1

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

Better Care Fund

The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2015-16 and 2014-15 were:

83,343
83,369
(26)

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

All Pooled Funds

Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council and East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough CCG for the joint commissioning of the following services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment, including wheelchair services until 31st October 2015
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund

13 Pooled budgets
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14 Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body
members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical
commissioning group.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the clinical commissioning group's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the
clinical commissioning group to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:

£000

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000

137
1,175
127
212
204
129
156
7,507
689
251
294
209
131
355
183
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
147

2
101
6
5
6
2
5
23
0
3
10
2
0
7
2
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Payments to
Related
Party
Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd
Expertology Ltd
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Fernville Surgery - Dr K Hodge
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Herts Urgent Care
Hospice of St Francis
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd
Kestrel Grove Nursing Home
Parkfield Medical Centre Potters Bar
Health Education England

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the clinical commissioning group had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The clinical commissioning group adopted a disclosure
level of £1million in 2015-16 and these entities are listed in the table below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material
transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have also
been reflected in the table below.
Payments to
Related
Party
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East & North Hertfordshire CCG
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS England
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme

£000
231,368
7,529
4,232
1,954
13,954
2,899
14,239
17,941
57,764
6,858
2,140
19,707
3,863
4,055
47,294
5,097
8,630
1,450
96,221
2,796
2,226
1,571

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,853
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
1,125
33
315
1,569
739
529
98
39
1,854
721
332
2,372
0
46
1,766
274
1,160
164
3,313
53
199
140

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
1,160
142
11
0
0
0
606
0
0
16
0
0
179
336
251
0
0
26
306
0
73
0

The clinical commissioning group received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2014-15 comparators are shown on the following page
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14a Related party transactions 2014-15
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body
members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical
commissioning group.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the clinical commissioning group's Governing Body. Details of payments made by the
clinical commissioning group to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:
Receipts
Amounts
Payments to
from Related
owed to
Related Party
Party Related Party
Boehringer Ingleheim Nutritia
Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Dacorum Healthcare Providers
Direct Local Health Ltd
EMAP Publishing Ltd
Expertology
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Fernville Surgery - Dr K Hodge
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Herts Urgent Care
Hospice of St Francis
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Drive Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Rowlands Pharmacy
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Peterborough & Stamford Hospitals NHS FT
Basildon & Thurrock University Hospitals NHS FT

£000
0
118
0
612
33
21
182
203
141
138
5,787
707
188
288
3
164
11
24

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
2
93
64
15
8
5
3
3
0
31
0
5
12
0
10
0
66

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
8
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
8
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the clinical commissioning group had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The clinical commissioning group adopted a disclosure
level of £1million in 2014-15 and these entities are listed in the table below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material
transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have also
been reflected in the table below.
Amounts
Receipts
Payments to
owed to
from Related
Related Party
Party Related Party
NHS England
NHS Central Eastern CSU
NHS East & North Hertfordshire CCG
Barnet & Chase Farm Hospitals NHS Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
North West London Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Tru
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council
HM Revenue & Customs
NHS Business Services Authority (NHS Pension Scheme)

£000
1,351
3,678
1,752
8,184
1,217
15,034
2,280
14,844
18,696
55,298
5,384
2,169
1,869
7,442
233,616
1,098
1,811
17,322
3,921
4,017
37,724
4,707
7,664
77,804
1,499
1,172

£000
163
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
109
390
0

The clinical commissioning group received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
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£000
216
0
296
0
891
782
242
356
210
1,182
414
405
0
0
8,262
0
158
986
383
14
5,257
96
1,457
2,895
169
124

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
238
0
29
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
19
0
0
146
1,087
233
0
0
0
0
251
0
0
400
11
0

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

711,522
0
711,013
0
0
12,999

0
0
12,999

Performance
£000

Target
£000
718,533
0
718,024

2015-16

2015-16

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

16 Financial performance targets

There are no events after the end of the reporting year that are required to be disclosed in this note.

15 Events after the end of the reporting year
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15,160

0

0

14,447

0

0

668,340
0
668,067

Performance
£000

Target
£000
675,348
0
675,075

2014-15

2014-15
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